The Understanding and Experience of Falls among Older Poople with Montel Illness Living
The Understanding and Experience of Falls among Older People with Mental Illness Living in the Community: A Qualitative Study
Ling Koh
Supervisors: Associate Professor Lynette Mackenzie
Dr Meryl Lovarini
Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Health Sciences of the University of Sydney for the degree of Master of Occupational Therapy
October 2018

Running head: FALLS IN OLDER ADULTS WITH MENTAL ILLNESS

1

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge and thank my thesis supervisors, Associate Professor Lynette Mackenzie and Dr Meryl Lovarini, for all your guidance, support and patience with my endless questions throughout the course of this research project. I am very fortunate to have been a student of such passionate researchers.

I would also like to acknowledge Ms Mandy Meehan and Ms Diane Grayshon for your assistance with the recruitment of study participants. I would like to extend my gratitude to the members of the community mental health centre where this project was based for helping to ease the data collection process and making me feel welcome in the team.

To all my participants, thank you for generously giving me your time and sharing your experiences with me.

To my fellow research classmates, thank you for making this journey more enjoyable. We have worked hard together to encourage and support each other.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, especially mum, for your unconditional love and support. You celebrated with me during times of happiness and reassured me during times of despair. I will always be indebted to you for listening, allowing me to vent and believing in me even when I did not believe in myself.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	2
SECTION ONE: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Overview	6
Falls and Older People in General	7
Risk Factors for Falls	7
Falls Prevention Strategies	8
The Older Population Living with Mental Illness	9
Search Strategy for Identification of Studies	11
Falls in Older Psychiatric Inpatients	11
Characteristics of falls in psychiatric inpatients	12
Earlier falls onset	13
Risk of Falls in Older People with Mental Illness Living in the Community	14
Biological factors	14
Behavioural factors	15
Social factors	17
Research Gap: Falls in Community-dwelling Older People with Mental Illness	19
Conclusion and Future Research Directions	19
References	21
SECTION TWO: JOURNAL MANUSCRIPT	
Australian Occupational Therapy Journal Title Page Requirements	33
Abstract	35
Introduction	36
Methods	38
Results	41

FALLS IN OLDER ADULTS WITH MENTAL ILLNESS	4
Discussion	46
Limitations and Future Research Directions	50
Implications for Practice	51
Key Points for Occupational Therapy	52
References	53
Tables	
Table 1: Interview questions	58
Table 2: Participant characteristics	59
Appendices	
Appendix A: Ethical Approval Letter	60
Appendix B: Participant Information Sheet	64
Appendix C: Informed Consent Form	67
Appendix D: Australian Occupational Therapy Journal Requirements	69

Appendix E: Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research (SRQR) Checklist 81

SECTION ONE: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

Falls are one of the most significant risks of mortality and morbidity for older adults. In 2015, falls resulted in the death of 696 Australians over 65 years in New South Wales alone (Centre for Epidemiology and Evidence, 2017). Falls can also cause physical consequences ranging from bruises, fractures to soft tissue and brain injuries (Terroso, Rosa, Torres, Marques, & Simoes, 2014). These negative fall-related outcomes may lead to hospitalisation and therefore impose a substantial economic burden on the healthcare system (Curtis et al., 2014; Watson, Clapperton, & Mitchell, 2011). Apart from physical injuries, falls may induce psychological distress and instil a fear of falling in older adults, resulting in an avoidance of daily activities that limits functional abilities, increases dependency and reduces overall quality of life (Deshpande et al., 2008; Li, Fisher, Harmer, McAuley, & Wilson, 2003). With an ever-increasing life expectancy in Australia (Plakiotis & O'Connor, 2012), the significant impacts of falls will demand the advancement of knowledge regarding falls and their management in the older population.

Within the population of older adults, individuals with mental illness have been found to have an increased falls rate compared to those without mental illness. For instance, in hospital settings, fall incidents in psychiatric units are up to four times higher than that in other aged-matched units (Blair & Gruman, 2006; Fischer et al., 2005; Scanlan, Wheatley, & McIntosh, 2012). Research evidence has also shown that community-residing older adults with mental illness are 13.6 per cent more likely to experience falls than a case-controlled sample (Hendrie et al., 2013). Furthermore, the risk of sustaining a fall-induced injury was found to be 1.5 to 2.5 times higher in individuals diagnosed with a mental health condition, which also significantly increased the associated healthcare costs in this population (Finkelstein, Prabhu, & Chen, 2007). However, falls in older adults with mental illness have been studied less rigorously compared to the general older populations (Estrin, Goetz,

Hellerstein, Bennett-Staub, & Seirmarco, 2009; Furness, Mnatzaganian, Garlick, Ireland, McKenna, & Hill, 2017). As a result, limited is known about the characteristics of falls, factors that contribute to risk of falling as well as how to effectively manage falls in older adults with mental illness. Hence, this literature review provides an overview of the current knowledge regarding falls and mental illness, explores the falls risks in older adults with mental illness, and proposes potential avenues for research in this area.

Falls and Older People in General

Falls are a significant risk for older people, who are individuals aged 65 years or over (World Health Organization [WHO], 2002). A fall is defined as a person who unintentionally comes to rest on a lower surface not caused by a sudden medical condition or an external force (Venes, 2017). In Australia, around a third of community-dwelling older people experience at least one fall in a year, and more than half of the falls result in a physical injury (New South Wales Health, 2010). Fall-related injuries often range from mild bruises and sprains to more severe outcomes like dislocations, fractures, soft tissue injury and brain injury (Terroso et al., 2014). Some of these physical consequences require medical treatment (20%) or even hospitalisation (10.7%) (New South Wales Health, 2010), imposing substantial healthcare costs (Watson et al., 2011). Furthermore, falls can often lead to a fear of falling in older adults and result in an avoidance of daily activities (Deshpande et al., 2008). Such fear-induced activity restriction may in turn limit functional abilities, increase dependency and reduce older people's overall quality of life (Deshpande et al., 2008; Li et al., 2003). Thus, in order to understand falls and reduce their negative implications, research has investigated the risk factors contributing to falls among older adults.

Risk factors for falls. According to the World Health Organization (2007), causative factors associated with falls are multifactorial and can be categorised into four dimensions

including biological, behavioural, environmental and socioeconomic factors. As the number of risk factors increases, a person experiences a higher risk of falling and is more likely to sustain fall-related injuries (WHO, 2007). In general, the risk of falls is heightened in older people as they are commonly exposed to the biological risk factors associated with ageing. These include declined vision and hearing, loss of muscle strength and flexibility, impaired balance, slower reaction time and reduced cognitive capacity (Lord, Sherrington, Menz, & Close, 2007).

In addition to the age-related physiological changes, falls risk in older adults can be exacerbated by behavioural factors that encompass individual actions and daily choices, which include multiple medications, substance use, and sedentary behaviour (WHO, 2007). Falls may also be the result of an interaction between biological factors and hazardous features of the faller's social or physical environment such as social isolation and tripping hazards in the home or public environment (WHO, 2007). Furthermore, social conditions and economic status have been associated with older adults' risk of falling; those who live alone or with a lower socioeconomic status have been found with an increased risk of falls (Elliott, Painter, & Hudson, 2009).

Falls Prevention Strategies. Identification of falls risk factors has facilitated the development of various intervention strategies aimed at reducing falls in the older population as identified in a Cochrane review (Gillespie et al., 2012). These falls management strategies usually target one or more falls risk factors by facilitating behavioural change and/or modifying the environment. The Cochrane review reports the effects of exercise programs, multifactorial interventions, home modifications, and withdrawal of unnecessary psychotropic medications in reducing the rate of falls in older people (Gillespie et al., 2012). However, the success of falls management and prevention strategies can be diminished in practice settings

by the diversity among different older populations as well as the variations in health and living conditions (Gates, Fisher, Cooke, Carter, & Lamb, 2007; Jansson, 2007).

As falls are caused by a number of multidimensional factors, population groups with different medical conditions, physical and cognitive capacities, lifestyle behaviour and social contexts are anticipated to have different falls risk profiles and may experience falls that are qualitatively different in nature. Within the wider population of older adults, individuals with mental illness often have a complex array of physical and mental health issues that differentiate their well-being needs from the general older adults (Rickwood, 2006). Therefore, this group of older people may be exposed to a different combination of falls risk factors which contributes to the unique characteristics of falls and their experience of falls.

The Older Population Living with Mental Illness

Mental illness is a term used to describe a spectrum of mental disorders defined according to clinical diagnostic criteria in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-Fifth Edition (DSM-5; Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2015). These disorders vary in both duration and severity, and they interfere with an individual's cognition, emotion regulation and/or behaviour which then lead to disability in social or occupational activities (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). In the context of this review, a narrower view of mental illness is adopted, with a focus on the common mental disorders affecting older adults in Australia such as mood disorders, anxiety disorders and psychotic disorders (Plakiotis & O'Connor, 2012). However, the prevalence literature of mental disorders in community-residing older Australians shows highly variable estimates (Djernes, 2006). This has been attributed to the differences in definitions and methods adopted by different studies to count cases of mental disorder (Pirkis et al., 2008).

Despite the methodological limitations across existing prevalence studies, the reported population-level data on mental disorders in older people may be helpful when considering the impact of falls in this group at the society level. Based on an Australian survey conducted in 2007, one in five adults (20 per cent or 3.2 millions) lives with a mental disorder and the prevalence of mental illness decreases considerably with increasing age (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008). The survey had a response rate of 60 per cent and recruited approximately 8800 participants. However, the investigation only counted cases of mood disorder, anxiety disorder and substance abuse disorder, which excluded other mental illnesses common among older adults such as psychotic disorders. Hence, in spite of the declining estimates with age, the prevalence of mental illness in older Australian adults may be higher than the reported figure. Additionally, as the Australian population progressively ages, the number of older adults with mental illness is anticipated to also increase over time (Plakiotis & O'Connor, 2012).

International epidemiological research suggests that mental illnesses often have an early onset, with three quarters beginning by the mid-20s and later onsets being mostly secondary to an existing mental disorder (Kessler, Amminger, Aguilar-Gaxiola, Alonso, & Üstün, 2007). Therefore, although some older adults have experienced a late onset, the older mental health population may generally have had a lifetime of chronic symptoms associated with their mental health diagnosis (Rickwood, 2006). After experiencing enduring mental disorder throughout adulthood, this group of individuals typically have complex and unique needs in addition to the typical developmental needs described in the wider older population (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2015).

Adults with mental illness may experience the effects of ageing at a younger age due to any premature cognitive deterioration and poor physical health status. For instance, one longitudinal study has found a more rapid cognitive decline in adults over the age of 50 years

with mental illness compared to an age-matched sample of adults without mental illness (Gildengers et al., 2009). Furthermore, individuals with mental illness often experience negative health outcomes as complications of their diagnosis (Karim, Overshott, & Burns, 2005), which have been linked to a life expectancy reduction of 10 to 25 years in this population (Lawrence, Hancock, & Kisely, 2013). Hence, older adults with mental illness are suggested to be more at risk of falls as a healthcare issue commonly associated with ageing.

Search Strategy for Identification of Studies

To locate studies that had investigated falls in middle-aged and older adults with mental illness, a literature search was conducted on September 17, 2018. Relevant studies were identified by searching MEDLINE and CINAHL using the following terms: *mental disorders* or *mental illness* or *anxiety* or *anxiety disorders* or *depression* or *schizophrenia* or *psychotic disorders*, and *accidental falls* or *fall prevention*. Only studies with participants aged 45 or above and published in English were included in this review. The search was also limited to studies published in the past 20 years to increase information currency.

Falls in Older Psychiatric Inpatients

Compared to the general older populations, falls in older adults with mental illness have been studied less rigorously (Estrin et al., 2009; Furness et al., 2017). Articles on this topic focus primarily on falls that occur among older psychiatric patients in hospital settings, including the identification of falls rates in this group and their mental health-specific risk factors (McMinn, Booth, Grist, & O'Brien, 2016; Scanlan et al., 2012). Studies have reported a falls incidence range of 1.44 to 6.4 per 1000 bed days in hospital psychiatric wards while the overall falls rates in general acute wards ranged from 0.86 to 5.54 per 1000 bed days (Fischer et al., 2005; Scanlan et al., 2012). Similar results have also been confirmed in older inpatients (Scanlan et al., 2012); falls were found more common in psychogeriatric units than

in general geriatric units, with up to 17.1 falls and 13.78 falls per 1000 bed days respectively (Hill et al., 2015; Nyberg, Gustafson, Janson, Sandman, & Eriksson, 1997). Hence, although a wide range of hospital falls rates has been reported, the existing research literature strongly suggests a higher incidence of falls in psychiatric patients than other age-matched patient populations (Blair & Gruman, 2006; Fischer et al., 2005; Scanlan et al., 2012).

In addition to having higher falls rates, psychiatric patients have been found more likely to sustain serious injuries from falls, with residence in geriatric psychiatry units being the most significant predictor of serious falls injury (adjusted odds ratio = 2.8; Fischer et al., 2005). The greater odds of severe falls-related injury have resulted in a significant increase in healthcare cost of falls among older psychiatric patients (Finkelstein et al., 2007). The reported higher rates of sustaining serious injury from falls in the older psychiatric population might be a result of their predisposition to osteoporosis and fragility fractures (Stubbs, Zapato-Bravo, & Haw, 2009). Therefore, older adults in mental health inpatient units are proposed to be an at-risk population for both falling and severe injury post fall compared to older adults in general hospital units.

Characteristics of falls in psychiatric inpatients. With the increased overall falls rates and more serious consequences of falling in older psychiatric inpatients, research studies have explored the nature of falls experienced by this population group to understand the unique causes and circumstances of their falls. The most commonly reported activities at the time of falls in psychogeriatric units are ambulating and wandering around wards (Blair & Gruman, 2006; Furness et al., 2017; Scanlan et al., 2012). In addition to the physical falls factors typically reported in other geriatric wards such as gait instability and lower limb weakness (Oliver, Daly, Martin, & McMurdo, 2004), falls among psychogeriatric patients can be a result of mental illness symptomatology such as hallucinations, disorganised thoughts, anxiety, restlessness and agitated behaviour (Blair & Gruman, 2006; Edelstein & Brown,

2000). The increased falls risk factors among older psychiatric patients is suggested to be further exacerbated by the use of psychotropic medications as well as their side effects during ambulation including orthostatic hypotension and a decreased awareness and interpretation of environmental hazards (McMinn et al., 2016; Tsai, Witte, Radunzel, & Keller, 1998).

Additional risk factors predisposing older adult psychiatric patients to fall have been found to include their concomitant comorbid medical conditions (Edelstein & Brown, 2000; Heslop et al., 2012), treatments such as polypharmacy and electroconculsive therapy (de Carle & Kohn, 2001; Knight & Coakley, 2010), poor nutrition (Edmonson, Robinson, & Hughes, 2011) and sleep deprivation that are commonly experienced by psychiatric patients (Eriksson, Strandberg, Gustafson, Lundin-Olsson, 2009). Due to the uniqueness of falls and risk for falling experienced by psychiatric patients, the falls risk assessment instruments commonly used in general inpatient geriatric populations are considered irrelevant for identifying psychiatric patients at risk of falls (Edmonson et al., 2011; Wynaden et al., 2016). Hence, the Edmonson Psychiatric Fall Risk Assessment Tool (EPFRAT; Edmonson et al., 2011) have been developed as a specialised falls risk assessment tool for use in psychiatric units to target the additional risk factors specific to patients with mental illness.

Earlier falls onset. Empirical research has also revealed a unique characteristic of fallers in inpatient psychiatric wards. The literature shows that patients who fell in medical-surgical units had a reported mean age ranging from 65 to 83 (Oliver et al., 2004), and they generally started to experience falls at the age of 65 years (Halfon, Eggli, Van Melle, & Vagnair, 2001). In contrast, Tay and colleagues (2000) found that patients who fell in mental health units had a younger mean age of 56.3 and falls within the group began to increase evidently after the age of 50. These results propose an earlier age of falls onset among inpatients with mental illness compared to the general patient population. Despite limited research explaining the findings, an interpretation of this reported phenomenon could be the

premature cognitive decline found in adults aged 50 or over diagnosed with a mental illness (Gildengers et al., 2009), in conjunction with the abovementioned additional falls risk factors experienced by psychiatric inpatients.

In summary, the existing literature has documented a higher risk of falls and related injury among psychiatric patients compared to general older patients. An array of inpatient falls studies has also highlighted the unique characteristics of psychiatric patients aged 50 or over as well as the falls risk factors specific to this population group. However, while there is a growing body of research on falls in psychiatric inpatients, very little research to date addresses falls within the community-dwelling population of older people with mental illness. This population is also expected to have a falls risk profile different to the general community-residing older adults due to their exposure to the risk factors associated with a mental health diagnosis.

Risk of Falls in Older People with Mental Illness Living in the Community

While numerous studies have been conducted on falls and falls prevention within the general community-dwelling population of older adults (Gillespie et al., 2012), a systematic review has pointed out the dearth of falls research in mental health settings for the older population (Bunn et al., 2014). Nevertheless, the literature suggests a heightened risk of falls in older people living in the community with mental illness. This is attributed to the additional precipitating factors associated with the symptoms of mental disorders and their implications in older adults' life (Heslop et al., 2012). These population-specific risk factors increase the likelihood of falling by contributing to the biological, behavioural and social dimensions of falls risk.

Biological factors. In addition to the developmental changes commonly reported in older adults, the diagnoses of a spectrum of mental disorders like depression, bipolar disorder,

anxiety disorders, and psychotic disorders are suggested to increase older adults' falls risk through an influence on their cognitive capacities. For instance, the clinical features of mood disorders and anxiety disorders in older adults typically include cognitive symptoms such as difficulty concentrating and distractibility (Byrne & Neville, 2010). Additionally, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia in community-residing adults over 45 years are associated with decreased executive functioning, reduced attention/concentration and slowed information processing (Depp et al., 2007). All these cognitive domains are important in gait coordination and maintaining attention to sensory cues in the environment to ensure safe and functional mobility (Amboni, Barone, & Hausdorff, 2013). Hence, the exacerbated cognitive decline is suggested to place older adults with mental illness at a higher risk of falling (Iaboni & Mulsant, 2016).

In addition to the associated cognitive manifestations, individuals with mental illness are predisposed to falls by a range of comorbid medical conditions. An estimated 11.7 per cent of Australian adults who experienced mental illness reported a co-occurring physical condition (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008). Studies have found that chronic disorders like obesity, diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease and stroke are significantly more prevalent within the mental health population than in the general adults (John, Koloth, Dragovic, & Lim, 2009; Regenold, Thapar, Marano, Gavirneni, & Kondapavuluru, 2002; Scott & Happell, 2011). Given that these health conditions have been linked to an increased number of falls in the community (Paliwal, Slattum, & Ratliff, 2017), older adults with mental illness may be placed at higher risk of falls by their psychiatric conditions and any comorbid medical conditions compared to the older population without mental illness.

Behavioural factors. The literature identifies a number of behavioural risk factors associated with mental illness that may predispose older adults with mental illness to falling in the community. These include the prescription of psychotropic drugs, multiple medication

use, decreased physical activity and poor nutrition (Deandrea et al., 2010). To reduce the effects of psychiatric symptoms on the daily functioning and participation in older adults with mental illness, a broad range of psychotropic medications are typically prescribed for use in this population. However, these medications often cause undesired side effects that can lead to an increased falls risk. For instance, commonly prescribed medications like mood stabilisers, antidepressants and antipsychotics may result in an impaired balance and gait, sedation, cardiac rhythm changes and/or hypotension that predispose older adults on these medications to falls (Iaboni & Mulsant, 2016; Kerse et al., 2008). Consistently, meta-analyses have demonstrated the association between an increased falls risk in community-dwelling older adults and their use of psychotropic medications (Hill & Wee, 2012; Leipzig, Cumming, & Tinetti, 1999; Woolcott et al., 2009). Nevertheless, pharmacological treatments remain a widely implemented intervention option for older adults with mental illness (Plakiotis & O'Connor, 2012), therefore exposing this population to a higher risk of falls.

Apart from the use of psychotropic medications, individuals with mental illness are often prescribed with multiple medications to manage their medical comorbidities (Byrne & Neville, 2010). Although the non-psychotropic medications used to reduce physical health symptoms are not directly linked to falls, these medications like cardiovascular drugs and analgesics can cause orthostatic hypotension and consequently lead to an increased falls risk and falls severity in older people (Milos et al., 2014). Moreover, the use of multiple medications in older adults, referred to as polypharmacy, has been shown to significantly increase falls rates after adjusting for their socio-demographic, medical and lifestyle factors (Fahami, Sathanapally, Seidu, Davies, & Khunti, 2017). The association between polypharmacy and falls in older people has been attributed to the drug-drug interactions that are linked to sedative and anticholinergic effects and associated with confusion as well as a higher falls risk (Byrne & Neville, 2010).

17

The symptoms of psychiatric conditions such as depressive mood and psychosis may decrease an individual's motivation and capacity to adhere to a healthy lifestyle (Farholm & Sørensen, 2016; Mushtaq, Mondelli, & Pariante, 2008). For example, research conducted in an Australian sample of community mental health service users found that the participants undertook less exercise compared to a control group in the general population (Davidson et al., 2001). As physical activity leads to muscle strengthening, an improved sense of balance and falls prevention (El-Khoury, Cassou, Charles, & Dargent-Molina, 2013), older adults with mental illness who engage in more sedentary lifestyle behaviours may experience an increased risk of falls. Additionally, individuals with mental illness are found to consume diets of lower quality than the general adults; their diets are energy-dense, highly processed, higher in salt and contain less fruit and vegetables (Dipasquale et al., 2012). The poor eating habits of people with mental illness often lead to a deficiency in dietary nutrients that are essential to maintain muscle mass and improve balance (Duque, Daly, Sanders, & Kiel, 2017), therefore contributing to an exacerbated risk of falls in this population.

Social factors. Social isolation has been conceptually and empirically determined in the literature as a predictor of falls in older adults living in the community (Elliott et al., 2009; Pohl, Cochrane, Schepp, & Woods, 2018). Individuals who live alone are found at risk of sustaining more injuries following a fall episode than those living with others (Elliott et al., 2009). This could be due to their lack of immediate social support and assistance in an emergency such as a fall event (Kharicha et al., 2007). Unfortunately, implications of mental illness in an older person's falls risk extend beyond the physical and cognitive symptoms to include its impact on social participation. For example, psychiatric conditions like psychotic disorders may induce persecutory delusions or hallucinations that lead to avoidance of social interactions (Hansen, Torgalsbøen, Melle, & Bell, 2009). Furthermore, individuals with mood

disorders such as depression may experience a lack of motivation to maintain social contacts (Radke, Güths, André, Müller, & de Bruijn, 2014).

In addition to the negative effects of psychiatric symptoms on social engagement, individuals with a diagnosis of psychiatric disorder may encounter negative discrimination and stigma from family and friends, making it difficult to sustain social networks (Thornicroft, Brohan, Rose, Sartorius, & Leese, 2009). The link between mental illness and social isolation is supported by an Australian survey that targeted community-dwelling adults, which found that approximately 56.4% reported receiving no or minimal social support (Stain et al., 2012). As social isolation is a risk factor for falls and fall injuries (WHO, 2007), older adults with mental illness, especially those who live alone and with limited social support, are considered a population group at risk of falls and injury.

In summary, the literature on falls and mental illness in older people strongly indicates that older adults living in the community with mental illness are at greater falls risk than the general community-dwelling older population. This is due to their exposure to additional falls risk factors unique to their mental health diagnosis, including reduced cognitive functioning, medical comorbidities, use of psychotropic medications, less healthy lifestyle and a lack of social support. Although the nature of several relationships between these risk factors and falls in older mental health population has not been fully explored in an Australian context, the increase of risk factors in multiple aspects (biological, behavioural, social) is proposed to considerably increase the population's falls risk in overall. Furthermore, the presence of mental health-specific risk factors may imply that the nature of falls in this population and their needs are different from the general older adults. Nevertheless, there is less research investigating falls experienced by older people with mental illness compared to the general older populations in the community (Bunn et al., 2014).

Research Gap: Falls in Community-dwelling Older People with Mental Illness

With the shift of mental health services towards community care, efforts have been made by the Australian government to support older adults with mental illness in community integration and ageing in place (Ash et al., 2012). For instance, an Australian national survey conducted in 2010 has shown that the majority of individuals with psychotic disorders received treatment in the community and their hospital admissions for mental health reasons had decreased by 35.9% since 1997 (Morgan et al., 2011). Nevertheless, little is known about the issue of falls as a major threat to healthy ageing among community-residing older people with mental illness.

One published American study was conducted on a sample of older community mental health service users consisting of older adults with schizophrenia, major recurrent depression and bipolar disorder. Participants reported 13.6% more falls than a control group of older adults attending primary healthcare clinics without mental illness (Hendrie et al., 2013). However, the study did not investigate the characteristics of falls experienced by this group. Hence, to date, the nature of experienced falls, risks of falls and falls management within the at-risk population of older adults with mental illness in the community have been largely unexplored.

Conclusion and Future Research Directions

The evidence from research studies strongly supports the conclusion that older people with mental illness living have a higher falls risk, unique risk factors and complex needs due to their coexisting medical, social, and degenerative conditions. This supposition is supported by the results of existing empirical research in older psychiatric inpatients, indicating an increased risk of falls, qualitatively different characteristics of falls and the need for a specialised risk assessment tool compared to other geriatric inpatients. Nevertheless, a review

20

of the research literature has highlighted a gap for exploring falls experienced by older people with mental illness living in the community despite them being exposed to more falls risk factors than the general community-dwelling older adults. Furthermore, although numerous falls prevention strategies have been developed to reduce falls within the general community-dwelling population of older adults, these approaches may not meet the needs of those living with a mental illness.

Given the physical and psychological consequences of falls, the understanding of falls and falls management within the at-risk population group of older adults with mental illness in the community remains significant. Hence, future research should begin to examine the issues of falls among this group of older people to understand the antecedents, circumstance, and consequences of their falls, identify the characteristics of falls, and explore the population's needs in relation to falls management. Research into these areas are expected to provide an insight into the falls experienced by this population group and potentially identify falls prevention strategies and approaches perceived as helpful from their perspective.

References

- Amboni, M., Barone, P., & Hausdorff, J. M. (2013). Cognitive contributions to gait and falls: Evidence and implications. *Movement Disorders*, 28(11), 1520-1533. doi:10.1002/mds.25674
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Use of the manual. In Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: Fifth edition (pp. 19-24). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Ash, D., Bland, R., Brown, P., Browne, M. O., Burvill, P., Davies, J.,... Weir W. (2012).

 Mental health services in the Australian states and territories. In G. Meadows, J.

 Farhall, E. Fossey, M. Grigg, F. McDermott, & B. Singh (Eds.), *Mental health in Australia: Collaborative community practice* (3rd ed.; pp. 118-154). Sydney: Oxford University Press.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2008). *National survey of mental health and wellbeing 2007:*Summary of results. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2015). *Australia's welfare 2015* (Australia's Welfare Series No. 12. Catalogue No. AUS 189). Canberra: AIHW. Retrieved from https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/c2ff6c58-e05e-49ed-afd7-43bd21eef4e2/AW15-6-4-Mental-health-of-older-Australians.pdf.aspx
- Blair, E., & Gruman, C. (2006). Falls in an inpatient geriatric psychiatric population. *Journal* of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association, 11(6), 351-354.

 doi:10.1177/1078390305284659

- Bunn, F., Dickinson, A., Simpson, C., Narayanan, V., Humphrey, D., Griffiths, C., ... Victor,
 C. (2014). Preventing falls among older people with mental health problems: A
 systematic review. *BMC Nursing*, 13(1), 4-4. doi:10.1186/1472-6955-13-4
- Byrne, G., & Neville, C. (2010). *Community mental health for older people*. Sydney: Churchill Livingstone.
- Centre for Epidemiology and Evidence. (2017, April 10). *Fall-related deaths*. North Sydney: NSW Ministry of Health. Retrieved May 31, 2018 from www.healthstats.nsw.gov.au
- Curtis, K., Chan, D. L., Lam, M. K., Mitchell, R., King, K., Leonard, L., . . . Black, D. (2014). The injury profile and acute treatment costs of major trauma in older people in New South Wales: Profile and cost of older people trauma. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 33(4), 264-270. doi:10.1111/ajag.12059
- Davidson, S., Judd, F., Jolley, D., Hocking, B., Thompson, S., & Hyland, B. (2001).

 Cardiovascular risk factors for people with mental illness. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *35*(2), 196-202. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1614.2001.00877.x
- de Carle, A. J., & Kohn, R. (2001). Risk factors for falling in a psychogeriatric unit. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 16(8), 762-767. doi:10.1002/gps.407
- Deandrea, S., Lucenteforte, E., Bravi, F., Foschi, R., La Vecchia, C., & Negri, E. (2010). Risk factors for falls in community-dwelling older people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epidemiology*, 21(5), 658-668. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181e89905
- Depp, C. A., Moore, D. J., Sitzer, D., Palmer, B. W., Eyler, L. T., Roesch, S., ... Jeste, D. V. (2007). Neurocognitive impairment in middle-aged and older adults with bipolar disorder: Comparison to schizophrenia and normal comparison subjects. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 101(1), 201-209. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2006.11.022

- Deshpande, N., Metter, E. J., Lauretani, F., Bandinelli, S., Guralnik, J., & Ferrucci, L. (2008).

 Activity restriction induced by fear of falling and objective and subjective measures of physical function: A prospective cohort study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics*Society, 56(4), 615-620. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01639.x
- Dipasquale, S., Pariante, C. M., Dazzan, P., Aguglia, E., McGuire, P., & Mondelli, V. (2012).

 The dietary pattern of patients with schizophrenia: A systematic review. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 47(2), 197-207. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.10.005
- Djernes, J. K. (2006). Prevalence and predictors of depression in populations of elderly: A review. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 113(5), 372-387. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2006.00770.x
- Duque, G., Daly, R., Sanders, K., & Kiel, D. (2017). Vitamin d, bones and muscle: Myth versus reality. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, *36*, 8-13. doi:10.1111/ajag.12407
- Edelstein, B. A., & Brown, S. A. (2000). Falls among psychogeriatric patients. *Clinical Gerontologist*, 21(4), 3-17. doi:10.1300/J018v21n04_02
- Edmonson, D., Robinson, S., & Hughes, L. (2011). Development of the Edmonson psychiatric fall risk assessment tool. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 49(2), 29-36. doi:10.3928/02793695-20101202-03
- El-Khoury, F., Cassou, B., Charles, M., & Dargent-Molina, P. (2013). The effect of fall prevention exercise programmes on fall induced injuries in community dwelling older adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *British Medical Journal*, 347(7934), 11-11. doi:10.1136/bmj.f6234
- Elliott, S., Painter, J., & Hudson, S. (2009). Living alone and fall risk factors in community-dwelling middle age and older adults. *Journal of Community Health*, *34*(4), 301-310. doi:10.1007/s10900-009-9152-x

- Eriksson, S., Strandberg, S., Gustafson, Y., Lundin-Olsson, L. (2009). Circumstances surrounding falls in patients with dementia in a psychogeriatric ward. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 49(1), 80-87. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2008.05.005
- Estrin, I., Goetz, R., Hellerstein, D. J., Bennett-Staub, A., & Seirmarco, G. (2009). Predicting falls among psychiatric inpatients: A case-control study at a state psychiatric facility.

 *Psychiatric Services, 60(9), 1245-1250. doi:10.1176/ps.2009.60.9.1245
- Fahami, R., Sathanapally, H., Seidu, S., Davies, M. J., & Khunti, K. (2017). Association between polypharmacy and falls in older adults: A longitudinal study from England. *BMJ*, 7(10), e016358. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016358
- Farholm, A., & Sørensen, M. (2016). Motivation for physical activity and exercise in severe mental illness: A systematic review of cross-sectional studies. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 25(2), 116-126. doi:10.1111/inm.12217
- Finkelstein, E., Prabhu, M., & Chen, H. (2007). Increased prevalence of falls among elderly individuals with mental health and substance abuse conditions. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15(7), 611-619. doi:10.1097/JGP.0b013e318033ed97
- Fischer, I. D., Krauss, M. J., Dunagan, W. C., Birge, S., Hitcho, E., Johnson, S., ... Fraser, V. J. (2005). Patterns and predictors of inpatient falls and fall-related injuries in a large academic hospital. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 26(10), 822-827. doi:10.1086/502500
- Furness, T., Mnatzaganian, G., Garlick, R., Ireland, S., McKenna, B., & Hill, K. D. (2017).

 Post-fall reporting in aged acute inpatient mental health units: An 18-month observational cohort study. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 29(12), 2007. doi:10.1017/S1041610217001648
- Gates, S., Fisher, J. D., Cooke, M. W., Carter, Y. H., & Lamb, S. E. (2007). Multifactorial assessment and targeted intervention for preventing falls and injuries among older

- people in community and emergency care settings: *Systematic review and meta-analysis*. *BMJ*, *336*(7636), 130. doi:10.1136/bmj.39412.525243.BE
- Gildengers, A. G., Mulsant, B. H., Begley, A., Mazumdar, S., Hyams, A. V., Reynolds III, C. F., ... Butters, M. A. (2009). The longitudinal course of cognition in older adults with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disorders*, 11(7), 744-752. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00739.x
- Gillespie, L. D., Robertson, M. C., Gillespie, W. J., Sherrington, C., Gates, S., Clemson, L. M.
 (2012). Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community.
 Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews, 2012(9).
 doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007146.pub3
- Halfon, P., Eggli, Y., Van Melle, G., & Vagnair, A. (2001). Risk of falls for hospitalized patients: A predictive model based on routinely available data. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *54*(12), 1258-1266. doi:10.1016/S0895-4356(01)00406-1
- Hansen, C. F., Torgalsbøen, A., Melle, I., & Bell, M. D. (2009). Passive/apathetic social withdrawal and active social avoidance in schizophrenia: Difference in underlying psychological processes. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 197(4), 274-277. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e31819dbd36
- Hendrie, H. C., Lindgren, D., Hay, D. P., Lane, K. A., Gao, S., Purnell, C., ... Callahan, C. M. (2013). Comorbidity profile and healthcare utilization in elderly patients with serious mental illnesses. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21(12), 1267-1276. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2013.01.056
- Heslop, K., Wynaden, D., Bramanis, K., Connolly, C., Gee, T., Griffiths, R., & Al Omari, O.
 (2012). Assessing falls risk in older adult mental health patients: A western Australian review. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 21(6), 567-575.
 doi:10.1111/j.1447-0349.2012.00825.x

- Hill, A., McPhail, S. M., Waldron, N., Etherton-Beer, C., Ingram, K., Flicker, L., Bulsara, M., & Haines, T. P. (2015). Fall rates in hospital rehabilitation units after individualised patient and staff education programmes: A pragmatic, stepped-wedge, cluster-randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*, 385(9987), 2592-2599. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61945-0
- Iaboni, A., & Mulsant, B. H. (2016). Psychotropic drugs. In A. R. Huang & L. Mallet (Eds.),Medication-related falls in older people: Causative factors and management strategies(pp. 105-124). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Jansson, B. (2007). Research on the prevention of fall injuries still makes prediction for practice difficult. *Age and Ageing*, *36*(3), 351-352. doi:10.1093/ageing/afm027
- John, A. P., Koloth, R., Dragovic, M., & Lim, S. C. B. (2009). Prevalence of metabolic syndrome among Australians with severe mental illness. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, 190(4), 176-179.
- Karim, S., Overshott, R., & Burns, A. (2005). Older people with chronic schizophrenia. *Aging & Mental Health*, 9(4), 315-324. doi:10.1080/13607860500114167
- Kerse, N., Flicker, L., Pfaff, J. J., Draper, B., Lautenschlager, N. T., Sim, M., ... Almeida, O.
 P. (2008). Falls, depression and antidepressants in later life: A large primary care appraisal. *Plos One*, 3(6), e2423-e2423. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002423

- Kessler, R. C., Amminger, G. P., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Lee, S., & Üstün, T. B. (2007). Age of onset of mental disorders: A review of recent literature. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 20(4), 359-364. doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e32816ebc8c
- Kharicha, K., Iliffe, S., Harari, D., Swift, C., Gillmann, G., & Stuck, A. E. (2007). Health risk appraisal in older people 1: Are older people living alone an 'at-risk' group? *British Journal of General Practice*, 57(537), 271-276.
- Knight, M., & Coakley, C. (2010). Fall risk in patients with acute psychosis. *Journal of Nursing Care Quality*, 25(3), 208-215. doi:10.1097/NCQ.0b013e3181d3766f
- Lawrence, D., Hancock, K. J., & Kisely, S. (2013). The gap in life expectancy from preventable physical illness in psychiatric patients in Western Australia: Retrospective analysis of population based registers. *BMJ*, *346*(7909), 13-13. doi:10.1136/bmj.f2539
- Leipzig, R. M., Cumming, R. G., & Tinetti, M. E. (1999). Drugs and falls in older people: A systematic review and meta-analysis: I. psychotropic drugs. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 47(1), 30-39. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1999.tb01898.x
- Li, F., Fisher, K. J., Harmer, P., McAuley, E., & Wilson, N. L. (2003). Fear of falling in elderly persons: Association with falls, functional ability, and quality of life. *The Journals of Gerontology*, *58*(5), 283-290. doi:10.1093/geronb/58.5.P283
- Lord, S. R., Sherrington, C., Menz, H., & Close, J. (2007). Falls in older people: Risk factors and strategies for prevention (2nd ed.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- McMinn, B., Booth, A., Grist, E., & O'Brien, A. (2016). Falls and fall injury in mental health inpatient units for older people. *Australian Nursing and Midwifery Journal*, 24(5), 26-29. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1833125324/

- Milos, V., Bondesson, A., Magnusson, M., Jakobsson, U., Westerlund, T., & Midlöv, P. (2014). Fall risk-increasing drugs and falls: A cross-sectional study among elderly patients in primary care. *BMC Geriatrics*, *14*(1), 40-40. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-40
- Morgan, V. A., Waterreus, A., Jablensky, A., & Mackinnon, A., McGrath, J. J., Carr. V., ... Saw, S. (2011). *People living with psychotic illness 2010*. Canberra: Australian Government Department of Health and Aging.
- Mushtaq, F., Mondelli, V., & Pariante, C. M. (2008). The metabolic implications of long term cannabis use in patients with psychosis. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 17(3), 221-226. doi:10.1017/S1121189X00001317
- New South Wales Health. (2010). *New South Wales falls prevention baseline survey: 2009 report*. North Sydney, NSW: Department of Health.
- Nyberg, L., Gustafson, Y., Janson, A., Sandman, P. O., & Eriksson, S. (1997). Incidence of falls in three different types of geriatric care: A Swedish prospective study.

 **Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, 25(1), 8-13.
- Oliver, D., Daly, F., Martin, F. C., & McMurdo, M. E. T. (2004). Risk factors and risk assessment tools for falls in hospital in-patients: A systematic review. *Age and Ageing*, 33(2), 122-130. doi:10.1093/ageing/afh017
- Paliwal, Y., Slattum, P. W., & Ratliff, S. M. (2017). Chronic health conditions as a risk factor for falls among the community-dwelling US older adults: A zero-inflated regression modeling approach. *BioMed Research International*, 2017, 1-9. doi:10.1155/2017/5146378
- Pirkis, J., Pfaff, J., Williamson, M., Tyson, O., Stocks, N., Goldney, R., . . . Almeida, O. P. (2008). The community prevalence of depression in older Australians. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 115(1), 54-61. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2008.08.014

- Plakiotis, C., & O'Connor, D. (2012). Psychiatric disorders affecting the elderly in Australia. In G. Meadows, J. Farhall, E. Fossey, M. Grigg, F. McDermott, & B. Singh (Eds.), *Mental health in Australia: Collaborative community practice* (3rd ed.; pp. 615-646). Sydney: Oxford University Press.
- Pohl, J., Cochrane, B., Schepp, K., & Woods, N. (2018). Falls and social isolation of older adults in the national health and aging trends study. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 11(2), 61-70. doi:10.3928/19404921-20180216-02
- Radke, S., Güths, F., André, J. A., Müller, B. W., & de Bruijn, E. R. A. (2014). In action or inaction? Social approach-avoidance tendencies in major depression. *Psychiatry Research*, 219(3), 513-517. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.07.011
- Regenold, W. T., Thapar, R. K., Marano, C., Gavirneni, S., & Kondapavuluru, P. V. (2002).

 Increased prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus among psychiatric inpatients with bipolar I affective and schizoaffective disorders independent of psychotropic drug use.

 Journal of Affective Disorders, 70(1), 19-26. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(01)00456-6
- Rickwood, D. (2006). *Pathways of recovery: Preventing further episodes of mental illness*(monograph). Canberra: National Mental Health Promotion and Prevention Working Party.
- Scanlan, J., Wheatley, J., & McIntosh, S. (2012). Characteristics of falls in inpatient psychiatric units. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 20(4), 305-308. doi:10.1177/1039856212455250
- Scott, D., & Happell, B. (2011). The high prevalence of poor physical health and unhealthy lifestyle behaviours in individuals with severe mental illness. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 32(9), 589-597. doi:10.3109/01612840.2011.569846
- Stain, H. J., Galletly, C. A., Clark, S., Wilson, J., Killen, E. A., Anthes, L., ... Harvey, C. (2012). Understanding the social costs of psychosis: The experience of adults affected

- by psychosis identified within the second Australian national survey of psychosis. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 46(9), 879-889.

 doi:10.1177/0004867412449060
- Stubbs, B., Zapata-Bravo, E., & Haw, C. (2009). Screening for osteoporosis: A survey of older psychiatric inpatients at a tertiary referral centre. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 21(1), 180-186. doi:10.1017/S1041610208007849
- Tay, S. E., Quek, C. S., Pariyasami, S., Ong, B. C., Wee, B. C., Yeo, J. L., & Yeo, S. G. (2000). Fall incidence in a state psychiatric hospital in Singapore. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 38(9), 10-16. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/764104759/?pq-origsite=primo
- Terroso, M., Rosa, N., Torres Marques, A., & Simoes, R. (2014). Physical consequences of falls in the elderly: A literature review from 1995 to 2010. *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity*, 11(1), 51-59. doi:10.1007/s11556-013-0134-8
- Thornicroft, G., Brohan, E., Rose, D., Sartorius, N., & Leese, M. (2009). Global pattern of experienced and anticipated discrimination against people with schizophrenia: A cross-sectional survey. *Lancet*, *373*(9661), 408-415. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61817-6
- Tsai, Y., Witte, N., Radunzel, M., & Keller, M. L. (1998). Falls in a psychiatric unit. *Applied Nursing Research*, 11(3), 115-121. doi:10.1016/S0897-1897(98)80112-2
- Venes, D. (2017). *Taber's cyclopedic medical dictionary* (23rd ed.). Philadelphia: F. A. Davis Company.
- Watson, W., Clapperton, A., & Mitchell, R. (2011). The burden of fall-related injury among older persons in New South Wales. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *35*(2), 170-175. doi:10.1111/j.1753-6405.2010.00656.x

- Woolcott, J. C., Richardson, K. J., Wiens, M. O., Patel, B., Marin, J., Khan, K. M., & Marra,
 C. A. (2009). Meta-analysis of the impact of 9 medication classes on falls in elderly
 persons. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 169(21), 1952-1960.
 doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2009.357
- World Health Organization. (2002). *Definition of an older or elderly person: Proposed*working definition of an older person in Africa for the MDS project. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/
- World Health Organization. (2007). WHO Global report on falls prevention in older age.

 Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organisation. Retrieved from

 http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/Falls_prevention7March.pdf
- Wynaden, D., Heslop, B., Heslop, K., Barr, L., Lim, E., Chee, G., . . . Murdock, J. (2016).

 The chasm of care: Where does the mental health nursing responsibility lie for the physical health care of people with severe mental illness? *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 25(6), 516-525. doi:10.1111/inm.12242

SECTION TWO: JOURNAL MANUSCRIPT

Australian Occupational Therapy Journal Title Page Requirements

- (i) The Understanding and Experience of Falls among Older People with Mental Illness Living in the Community: A Qualitative Study
- (ii) Ling Koh BPsy (Hons).

Lynette Mackenzie PhD, MEdStud, BEdStud, BAppSc(OT), DipCOT; Associate Professor.

Meryl Lovarini PhD, MHSc (Health Informatics), Grad Dip Safety Science, Grad Dip OT, BSc; Lecturer.

Mandy Meehan PG Dip (Old Age Psychiatry), BAppSc (OT); Occupational Therapist. Diane Grayshon GradCert Mental Health Nursing; Clinical Nurse Specialist.

(iii) Ling Koh – University of Sydney

J Block, 75 East Street, Lidcombe NSW 2141 Email address: lkoh5682@uni.sydney.edu.au

Lynette Mackenzie – University of Sydney J Block, 75 East Street, Lidcombe NSW 2141 Email address: lynette.mackenzie@sydney.edu.au

Meryl Lovarini – University of Sydney J Block, 75 East Street, Lidcombe NSW 2141 Email address: meryl.lovarini@sydney.edu.au

Mandy Meehan – Ryde Community Mental Health 39-41 Fourth Ave, Eastwood NSW 2112 Email address: mandy.meehan@health.nsw.gov.au

Diane Grayshon – Ryde Community Mental Health 39-41 Fourth Ave, Eastwood NSW 2112 Email address: diane.grayshon@health.nsw.gov.au

- (iv) Falls in Older People with Mental Illness
- (v) Ling Koh was responsible for all data collection, led the analysis and led the compiling of the manuscript. Lynette Mackenzie and Meryl Lovarini contributed to data analysis. All authors contributed to writing the manuscript.
- (vi) This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial or not-for-profit sectors.
- (vii) The authors have no conflicts to declare.
- (viii) The authors thank the healthcare staff at the community mental health centre for insight, assistance and expertise that greatly assisted the research study.
 - (ix) Word length for the main text: 4999
 - (x) Word length of the abstract: 274

(xi) Number of references: 35. Tables: 2

(xii) Correspondence: Ling Koh – University of Sydney c/o Lynette Mackenzie, Discipline of Occupational Therapy 75 East Street, Lidcombe, NSW 2141

Email address: lkoh5682@uni.sydney.edu.au

Phone: 0435475957

(xiii) MeSH terms: accidental falls, aged, middle aged, mental disorder, independent living

Abstract

The Understanding and Experience of Falls among Older People with Mental Illness Living in the Community: A Qualitative Study

Introduction: Compared to the general older population, older adults living in the community with mental illness are suggested to have an increased risk of falls. However, little is known about the falls experienced by this population. This study aimed to explore the understanding and experience of falls from the perspectives of older adults with mental illness living in the community as well as to identify any falls prevention strategies valued by them.

Methods: Ten consumers aged 50 or over with experience of falling were recruited at a community mental health service centre in Sydney (four male and six female; mean age = 70.4 years). An audiotaped, semi-structured interview was conducted with each participant. Recordings were transcribed verbatim and data were thematically analysed using NVivo11 software to identify key themes.

Results: Four major themes were generated: (1) making sense of falls, (2) being self-reliant after falls, (3) enduring the consequences of falls, and (4) preventing future falls – perceptions and strategies.

Conclusion: Most participants were uncertain about the cause of their falls and seemed to not understand their falls risks. They were also less likely to seek help after a fall, despite injuries. Consequences of falls included physical injury and the negative emotional impacts experienced following a fall. Most participants expressed a certain degree of concerns regarding future falls, however, their strategy to prevent falls was to simply "be careful." Future occupational therapy practice should address the falls risk in community-dwelling older adults with mental illness and implement prevention initiatives tailored to the needs of this population.

Introduction

In many community mental health service settings, occupational therapists emphasise on the principles of recovery, with efforts put into symptom management and ongoing mental health risk assessments (Fossey et al., 2012). While maintaining mental well-being is crucial in supporting consumers' continuing agency in everyday life, relatively little attention has been placed on physical health risks, which are particularly important in the older population as they are prone to serious health issues like falls due to the age-related declines.

Falls are one of the most significant risks of mortality and morbidity for older adults. They can cause physical injuries ranging from bruises, fractures to soft tissue and brain injuries (Terroso, Rosa, Torres, Marques, & Simoes, 2014). Furthermore, falls can induce fear of falling in older adults and result in an avoidance of daily activities that limits functional abilities, increases dependency and reduces the overall quality of life (Li, Fisher, Harmer, McAuley, & Wilson, 2003). While older people are generally predisposed to falls by agerelated physiological changes (Lord, Sherrington, Menz, & Close, 2007), their risk of falling may be exacerbated by a mental health disorder (McMinn, Booth, Grist, & O'Brien, 2016). However, compared to the general older populations, falls in older adults with mental illness have been studied less rigorously (Estrin, Goetz, Hellerstein, Bennett-Staub, & Seirmarco, 2009).

Within the limited literature on falls in older populations living with mental illness, research has predominantly focused on understanding falls among psychiatric inpatients. Empirical studies in hospital settings have found that older psychiatric patients generally experience more falls and are more likely to sustain serious falls injuries than other geriatric patients (Fischer et al., 2005; Scanlan et al., 2012). The heightened falls rates reported in psychiatric units for older people are attributed to a range of mental health-specific falls risk

factors documented in the research literature. These include the psychiatric symptoms experienced on ward, medical comorbidities, psychiatric treatments like polypharmacy and electroconvulsive therapy, poor nutrition and sleep deprivation (Edmonson, Robinson, & Hughes, 2011; McMinn et al., 2016).

While there is a growing body of research investigating falls in older psychiatric inpatients, very little research has addressed falls within the community-dwelling population of older adults with mental illness. These individuals living in the community are exposed to the unique falls risk factors associated with a mental health diagnosis and therefore have a falls risk profile that is different from the general older adults. Indeed, a previous study has found that older community mental health service users reported 13.6% more falls than a control group of older people attending healthcare clinics without mental illness (Hendrie et al., 2013). However, the study did not explore the characteristics of falls experienced by this group of older adults. Hence, to date, the nature of falls, risks of falls and falls management within the population of older adults with mental illness living in the community have been largely unexplored, despite their increased falls risk and the potentially severe effects of falling.

This study aimed to explore the perspectives of older adults living in the community with mental illness regarding their understanding of falls, past experiences of falls, and personal strategies to prevent falls. Although older people are generally defined as individuals who aged 65 years or over (World Health Organization, 2002), individuals with mental illness are suggested to experience the effects of ageing at a younger age of 50 due to the premature cognitive decline and poor physical health status (Gildengers et al., 2009; Karim, Overshott, & Burns, 2005). Consistently, previous research has found that psychiatric patients started to experience falls evidently after the age of 50 years (Tay et al., 2000). Therefore, throughout this paper, older adults with mental illness are defined as individuals who aged 50 or over

diagnosed with a mental disorder. An in-depth examination of falls experienced by this at-risk population may offer insights to the specific phenomenon and potentially expand the scope of occupational therapy practice in community mental health settings to address consumers' risk of falls.

Methods

Study Approach

A qualitative approach was adopted to gain insight into the phenomenon of falls as experienced by adults with mental illness over the age of 50 years living in the community. Ethical approval was obtained from the Northern Sydney Local Health District Human Research Ethics Committee (reference no. RESP/18/214). The author is an occupational therapy student with beliefs that reflect the theoretical models of the occupational therapy profession, implying the multi-factorial causes underlying falls as well as the impact of falls on occupational participation and well-being.

Sampling and recruitment

Criterion sampling was utilised to recruit participants from a metropolitan community mental health service. Inclusion criteria included being over the age of 50 years, living in the community, having had at least one fall in the past, and being able to understand and converse in English. Service users at the mental health centre who fulfilled the inclusion criteria were identified by two healthcare providers, with a consideration of their capacity to provide informed consent. Prospective participants were approached by the author to present an information sheet explaining the purpose of the study, the involvement of an audio-recorded interview, voluntary participation and free withdrawal. Participants who agreed to take part in the study were requested to sign an informed consent form prior to commencing interviews.

Data collection

One-on-one, semi-structured interview was selected as the method of data collection to elicit participants' rich descriptions of their past fall experiences (Creswell, 2007a). Ten interviews occurred between July and September 2018. The interviews were flexible and adapted to each participant's unique experience. Nevertheless, an interview guide was followed, which included a series of open-ended questions generated by the author from the research question and reviewed by her supervisors (Mackenzie and Lovarini). The questions were used to prompt detailed recall of a past fall event(s), perceived causes of the fall, consequences of the fall, and any post-fall changes in activities or helpful strategies used to prevent future falls (see Table 1).

Participants were offered a choice of interview venue. Eight of the interviews were conducted in the participant's own home, and the remainder of the interviews took place in a private room at the community mental health centre. Seven participants were interviewed in the presence of a support person (e. g., a family member or healthcare provider) as per their own request or they were considered by their healthcare provider as requiring support in the interview. The interviews were conducted by the author and ranged in length from 30 to 70 minutes. Demographic data on age, gender and living situation (i.e. lived alone or with others) were collected during the audio-recorded interviews. The interview data were audio-recorded for data analysis. Medical records were reviewed after the interviews to extract data on participants' medical diagnoses and prescribed medications.

Data analysis

Interview recordings were transcribed verbatim by the first author. Participants were assigned an ID number from 1 through 10 to protect their anonymity. The interview data were then analysed using thematic analysis according to Braun and Clarke's (2006) guidelines. An

inductive approach was taken to allow themes to emerge from the data so that data is not coded using pre-existing frameworks (Braun & Clarke, 2006). In addition to listening to the audio-recordings for transcription, the transcripts were read and reread for familiarisation prior to coding. Initial codes were then assigned to segments of raw data. Subsequently, codes were grouped into categories, which were then organised into broader groups that represented emerging themes within the data. Next, thematic similarities and differences were compared across participants to review each potential theme as well as validate their existence in the original data. NVivo11 software was used in the data analysis process to store, organise and compare data. The refined themes were then related back to the study aim and existing literature to answer the research question.

Rigour

Five strategies were utilised to enhance the credibility, dependability and trustworthiness of the findings. During the four months prior to data collection, the first author visited the community mental health centre repeatedly to engage and involve self in the field. In addition, the first author used a reflective journal to document her emerging thoughts on the phenomenon throughout the data collection and analysis process. This enabled her to acknowledge the influence of her personal values on data interpretation in order to increase the credibility of findings (Mays & Pope, 2000). Member checking was used to ensure accuracy of interview data from participant's perspective (Minichiello, Aroni, & Hays, 2008). Participants were provided the opportunity to review their interview transcript. Only seven participants requested their transcripts for review, with no changes made. Throughout data analysis, consensus coding was conducted by the author and her two supervisors (Mackenzie and Lovarini). Each interview transcript was coded by two individuals independently and their codes were compared for similarities and differences. Emerged themes were discussed, reviewed and refined by the three coders. Additionally, peer reviewing occurred throughout

the research process whereby the author's supervisors, who were experienced qualitative researchers in falls research, examined the methodology, interview transcripts and final report. They provided ongoing feedback to the author to validate or question the findings, therefore minimising researcher bias (Creswell, 2007b).

Results

Table 2 presents the demographic characteristics of all ten participants. All participants reported having had at least one fall in the past five years. Participants' accounts referred to falls that had occurred, sometimes recurrently, between 20 years and three months previously. Four key themes emerged from the interview data: (1) making sense of falls, (2) being self-reliant after falls, (3) enduring the consequences of falls, (4) preventing future falls – perceptions and strategies.

Theme 1: Making sense of falls

This theme presents findings relating to the context in which participants experienced a fall event and tried to make sense of the fall. It comprises two subthemes, namely, the circumstances around the fall and the attributed cause of the fall. During the course of interviews, some participants displayed mental health symptoms such as flight of thoughts, thought blocking and circumstantial speech. The manifestations of symptoms imposed challenges in differentiating between the circumstances of similar fall events, especially when participants had more than one fall in the same location. Hence, rephrasing and revisits to fall events were used for clarification and to maintain the interview focus. In terms of participants' accounts, many reported having difficulty recalling some memories associated with their falls. Some forgot what they were doing at the time of fall, some could not recall their action right before the fall, some had difficulty remembering the time of day when the fall occurred.

I wish I could [remember] but it's almost like my brain's... sort of cut that memory out. But I can remember talking with [my friend]. I remember getting to that point where the road and that path connect, but I can't remember where my foot was or whether I was on a rock or whether it was a hole or what, I don't know. (Participant 10)

In one instance, the participant and her support person suggested differing circumstances of a fall event. While Participant 1 reported, "no, I wasn't by myself, there was [my daughter], there was my son and we were painting the house, yeah," her daughter emphasised that participant had been alone and that no one had witnessed the fall. Whilst the majority of participants voiced the challenges of remembering and describing their falls, a few explicitly acknowledged their memory issues; one ascribed the limited recall to a side effect of the electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) received while the other had considered the long-term medication use as a contributing factor to his memory difficulties.

Sometimes I have some memory loss still. July, August, September, that's nearly three months. But they said... they told me that, they told me that's one of the side effects of it (ECT), right. (Participant 8)

Another recurring subtheme was the attributed cause of the fall. Some of the reported fall events were either attributed to an external environmental factor, an internal behavioural cause or a physical health symptom.

That was my fault because I missed a step and ended up with a fractured ankle.

(Participant 2)

She has... you know, Parkinson's. [That's] when they get stiffness in the... (pats thigh).

That's what caused the fall. (Participant 1's daughter)

Other fall experiences were attributed to an unknown reason, with participants stating that they "don't know" or "I just fell". A few participants seemed to have been putting effort into trying to make sense of their falls, however expressed their frustration at the inexplicability of falling.

No, I've already fallen a few times. I don't know why I fall over. (Participant 5)

But you still get upset sometimes, angry you know what I mean, why it happened. But it's still nothing you can do about [it] anyhow. (Participant 4)

Two participants, although not being able to pinpoint the exact cause of their falls, cited dizziness prior to the fall event, which was a symptom described by a few other participants as a side effect of their medications.

Faintly dizzy... and the blood pressure dropped really low. I've got normally very low blood pressure, but it went really low. (Participant 8)

I was just over-medicated, just so doped up. So I got out of bed at about 1 o'clock to go to the bathroom. I was just doped, just dizzy erm just... yeah. So overly-medicated with erm... sedatives, yeah sedation type medication that I was just... I wasn't steady. (Participant 10)

Theme 2: Being self-reliant after falls

In this theme, participants described their immediate response after encountering a fall. Most participants demonstrated their value for self-reliance when dealing with a fall event. Some of them relied on self by crawling to furniture and raising themselves up while a few of them insisted on getting up by themselves despite serious injury and help being available.

I said when I hit the ground "I have broken my ribs" ... They asked me if I wanted help getting up, I said "no, let me get up myself." I got up myself. (Participant 9)

Participant 3, who broke his ankle after a fall, reported that he "still walked around all that day all that night." Later when revisited the fall event, he stated that,

(Breathes out heavily) I don't know. I was... just... I'd dealt with it already. I had the VitalCall on me and all that, I didn't bother to.

Theme 3: Enduring the consequences of falls

This theme presents the varying impact of falls on participants, ranging from serious physical injuries to emotional consequences. Most participants experienced a physical injury from falls, many of which required medical assistance while some resulted in prolonged pain with no medical attention sought. In a few instances, participants sustained a serious injury that led to the need for hospitalisation.

Well I went to hospital. They couldn't put me into plaster then because I had to fly home within a couple of weeks. But the rest of my holiday I spent in a room with my leg up. [It's] just terrible, I couldn't do anything. (Participant 10)

Some participants, despite experiencing pain, diminished the need to seek medical attention for their falls injury. When invited to explore the underlying reasons for their decision, a few participants reported that they were "used to having falls" or they "don't bother the doctors with it".

Oh, it wasn't that I didn't want to go with them (paramedics and fire rescue team). I trusted them to do the right thing. But there was no point in me going, putting everyone into a whole lot of trouble and the hospital having to find a bed when there was absolutely nothing wrong with me. (Participant 6)

Some fall events were described as having "minor" physical consequences but had resulted in negative emotional outcomes, such as fear of falling, loss of confidence, needing reassurance and feelings of stupidity.

Dreadful, yeah. So I'm very very scared. You don't mind me saying so, well, I'm really scared of these things ... I'm really scared. (Participant 3)

Everyone is upset if you get hurt. You will [feel] upset and say how stupid am I [and] why did this happen. (Participant 4)

In some instances, participants associated future falls with a substantial fear of the unknown or potential mortality.

When I'm flat on my stomach, when I'm flat on my stomach I can't get up. Oh... [I] don't know what I'm gonna do. (Participant 7)

But I'm cautious to ensure that I don't fall and have a compound fracture that may result in me dying suddenly. (Participant 9)

Theme 4: Preventing future falls – Perceptions and strategies

Some participants indicated their awareness and concerns about own falls risk. A range of perceived falls risk was reported, including physical health condition, tripping hazards in the home environment and risk-taking behaviour. A few participants reported experiencing a falls risk that was related to their mental health condition.

But when you get caught up in... I suppose in any hallucinations, it takes our... attention away from walking and... yeah so that would definitely be a high risk. (Participant 10)

Given their concern about future falls, participants were asked if any strategies were used or perceived as helpful to prevent falls. A minority of participants described actions and routines to decrease their risk of falls such as "using a torch" and reminding self of walking technique "heel toe, heel toe." Two participants mentioned the perceived usefulness of strengthening exercises but "put [it] away for tomorrow" due to a lack of motivation. The majority of participants reported to increase their level of attentiveness and "be careful" to target different falls risk and to prevent self from falling.

I get dizzy. Dizzy yeah... so I've gotta be very careful there. (Participant 3)

So I have... I just have to be careful of rugs and anything that slips [in my house]. You know like rugs and things like that. (Participant 8)

I've got no hand to use the rail going up and stairs, both hands occupied (chuckles). Big risk, big risk. But I'm very careful you know. I watch the steps properly, very careful. 'Cause I know if something goes wrong, I'm gonna fall backwards. (Participant 9)

You know in the shower if you're not careful, the soap is slippery. You see you have to be careful you know what I mean... If you slip you can't catch yourself. That's why I learn how to be careful when there's soap on the floor. (Participant 4 with obsessive compulsive disorder)

In all, most participants were to some degree concerned about future falls and stated a range of personal falls risk. They appeared to rely heavily on being careful to prevent falls in the future.

Discussion

This study is the first to examine the experience of falls from the perspectives of older adults (aged 50 or over) with mental illness living in the community. The findings provide important

insights into the individuals' understanding of falls, their past experiences of falls and strategies to prevent falls. Participants ranged in their primary mental health diagnosis, medical comorbidities, age and living situation; nevertheless, all participants had experienced at least one fall in the past five years with most of them reported experiencing three or more falls over this time. All ten participants had at least one medical comorbidity that predisposed them to falls (Paliwal, Slattum, & Ratliff, 2017), and nine of them were taking four or more psychotropic medications, indicating that this participant group was at high risk of falls.

The majority of our participants expressed difficulties recalling aspects of their past fall(s). Two participants ascribed their limited recollections of fall events to a potential result of their mental health treatment like long-term medication use and electroconvulsive therapy (ECT). Indeed, ECT and some psychotropic medications have been documented in the literature as having adverse effects on older adults' memory (Lindsey, 2009; Weiner, 2000). However, having a limited understanding of the antecedents to falls might have hindered our participants' attempts in rationalising the falls occurrence. Some participants attributed their falls to the environment like slippery surface, a personal behavioural factor such as "my fault" and "I was rushing," or a physical health symptom like reduced strength and balance. These accounts were in fact similar to the perceptions of general community-dwelling older adults who fall (Shankar, Taylor, Rizzo, & Liu, 2017). Nevertheless, some of our participants ascribed their falls to an unclear or unknown reason. Such unawareness of falls origins in older adults has been explained by Faes and colleagues (2010) as a result of cognitive difficulties. While older adults diagnosed with a mental disorder may experience a more rapid cognitive decline compared to the general older adults (Gildengers et al., 2009), the challenge in participants attributing clear causes for their falls could have also been a result of the limited understanding of their falls risk factors.

Some participants reported experiencing "dizziness" and "low blood pressure" before falling, which are physical signs regarded in the literature as side effects of medications that contribute to falls (Milos et al., 2014). However, only two participants associated these symptoms with their medications and attributed them as the cause of their falls. Although most participants, when describing their perceived falls risks, cited similar physical signs, they did not acknowledge the symptoms' connection with their medications. This finding is in fact not surprising as a previous study showed that the wider general population of community-dwelling older adults who took psychotropic medications also did not relate their falls to drug use (Bell, Steinsbekk, & Granas, 2017). A possible explanation for this finding is that our participants had limited knowledge of the side effects of their medications, which was the case found within the general older population (Bell et al., 2017). Hence, our participants might not have been equipped with adequate information to recognise their medications as a falls risk factor which induced the experienced negative symptoms that led to falls.

Furthermore, whilst many participants were not able to attribute clear causes for their falls, Table 2 illustrates that most participants experienced a broad range of comorbidities that were likely to have an effect on their falls (Paliwal et al., 2017). The findings may imply that our participants did not understand the full spectrum of their falls risk factors, hence why they were unable to make sense of their falls. Being unable to reflect and identify the reason for a fall has been found to induce more negative psychological and emotional experiences of the fall and hinder the formulation of active coping strategies to prevent future falls (Roe et al., 2008). Therefore, the difficulties in rationalising falls among our participants might have contributed to their reported substantial fear towards future falls and the lack of active strategies to prevent falls.

Participants' immediate reactions to fall events revealed their value for self-reliance.

Most participants tried getting up by themselves, some despite having a serious physical

injury like a fractured ankle. To maintain self-reliance, some participants delayed or avoided help-seeking behaviour entirely after a fall. A few participants explained the reduced inclination to seek medical help as a result of being "used to having falls". These accounts indicated participants' acceptance of falls as part of their life and normalising the endurance of falls, an attitude that has also been found in general community-dwelling older adults (Dickson et al., 2011). Although self-reliance is associated with a sense of independence and hence embraced by older people (Wacker & Roberto, 2013), not seeking medical attention after sustaining a serious fall injury can worsen the injury and lead to prolonged recovery, which was the case with some of our participants. To encourage healthcare service use in older adults with mental illness, psychosocial models and theories suggest the importance for healthcare providers to explore and address consumers' psychosocial barriers to accepting or seeking help (Wacker & Roberto, 2013).

In addition to physical injuries, falls also induced fear of falling in our participants, aligning with the psychological impact of falls commonly reported in the general older adults (Scheffer, Schuurmans, Dijk, Hooft, & Rooij, 2008). However, unlike the general older population (Scheffer et al., 2008), our participants did not report any social withdrawal as a result of their fear of falling. This could be due to the fact that older adults with mental illness typically experience social isolation in the community (Thornicroft, Brohan, Rose, Sartorius, & Leese, 2009). Therefore, our participants might not have already been engaging in much social participation prior to their falls. The fear of falling indicated that our participants were concerned about falling in the future, although some did not understand the full spectrum of their falls risk. Risk factors that were commonly reported among our participants include physical and mental health symptoms, home hazards and own risky behaviours. Thus, in contrast to the general community-dwelling older adults who were less concerned about

future falls (Yardley, Donovan-Hall, Francis, & Todd, 2006), many of our participants viewed themselves as susceptible to falling and some expressed fear about their falls risk.

To address the perceived falls risk and cope with the induced fear of falling, most participants relied heavily on "being careful" when undertaking activities, often with no other behavioural or environmental adaptations made. However, the "be careful" approach is not supported by current research to effectively reduce falls or falls risk. Hence, its use as the main strategy to address risk factors across situations without other evidence-based modifications can be problematic. While a few participants mentioned the potential usefulness of exercise interventions, they identified low motivation as a barrier to their adherence to the strategy, a finding consistent with previous research showing the impact of low motivation on health behaviour change among individuals with mental illness (Farholm & Sørensen, 2016). Hence, the special needs of our participants could have made "being careful" the predominant strategy to prevent falls. The use of a single passive approach could also be accounted for by the unclear falls causes which left our participants with no basis for strategy formulation to prevent future falls. Additionally, their limited understanding of the impacts of medications and medical comorbidities on falls might have further impeded rationalisation of falls and the use of effective coping.

Limitations and Future Research Directions

This study is the first to examine the perspectives of older adults (aged 50 or over) with mental illness living in the community who fall. Findings provide important first preliminary insight into the understanding and experiences of falls in this group of older adults. However, as an exploratory qualitative study, the findings were generated in a sample of participants living in a metropolitan area within Australia and therefore cannot be inferred to the older psychiatric populations in rural areas. Also, this study investigated participants' past falls

experiences, which relied on their subjective recall of previously encountered fall events. Thus, the limited recall reported in our findings could be a result of the delayed recall time. However, participants' perceptions and understanding of falls experiences were of interest rather than their precise recall of fall events. Future qualitative studies may examine the perspectives of older adults with mental illness who have had a recent fall to explore any potential differences in the perceptions of falls risk.

As older people with mental illness living in the community are suggested to be qualitatively different from the general older population, a longitudinal study is warranted to investigate their specific risk factors for falls. Longitudinal evidence of falls risk factors may unveil the special needs of this population group in relation to falls prevention. Intervention studies are also recommended to explore the effectiveness of different prevention programs and strategies in this group of older adults. Future research recommendations also include the exploration of healthcare providers' accounts regarding consumers' falls and falls risk. A comparison of the two sources of information could generate insight as to how well consumers understand their own falls risk as well as uncover their likelihood to report, discuss falls, and seek assistance from their healthcare provider. Furthermore, interviewing healthcare professionals may provide their perspectives towards falls prevention initiatives in community-residing older adults with mental illness.

Implications for Practice

Findings from this study suggest that occupational therapists working with older adults with mental illness in the community setting should anticipate high levels of falls risk in this population. It underlines the importance of including falls screening in regular risk assessment procedures to identify consumers at high risk of falls and introduce appropriate interventions. In addition, older adults with mental illness are less likely to initiate help-

seeking behaviour after a fall, despite injury. Therefore, therapists can draw on their expertise in empowerment to partner with consumers and enable them to overcome the psychosocial barriers to healthcare service use when in times of need. Consideration should also be given to the inclusion of routine discussion with consumers about falls especially when these individuals present with a range of falls-predisposing medical comorbidities and polypharmacy.

Due to the unique falls risk profiles and complex needs of older adults living with mental illness, occupational therapists have a role in educating consumers on their specific risk factors (e.g., medication side effects) and equip them with a range of targeted prevention strategies beyond just "being careful". While valuable efforts have been put into developing various effective falls prevention programs and interventions for the general community-dwelling population of older adults (Gillespie et al., 2012), to date, no falls prevention program has been designed to specifically target the needs of older adults with mental illness (Bunn et al., 2014). Hence, there is an urgent need for occupational therapists working in older adult community mental health settings to tailor the existing evidence-based falls prevention interventions for general older adults to meet the specific needs of this population.

Key Points for Occupational Therapy

Occupational therapists working in community mental health settings with older people:

- Need to be increasingly aware of consumers' falls risk
- Have a role in educating consumers about their risk of falls
- Should implement initiatives to equip consumers with strategies to prevent falls

References

- Bell, H. T., Steinsbekk, A., & Granas, A. G. (2017). Elderly users of fall-risk-increasing drug perceptions of fall risk and the relation to their drug use a qualitative study.

 Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care, 35(3), 247-255.

 doi:10.1080/02813432.2017.1358438
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Bunn, F., Dickinson, A., Simpson, C., Narayanan, V., Humphrey, D., Griffiths, C., ... Victor, C. (2014). Preventing falls among older people with mental health problems: A systematic review. *BMC Nursing*, *13*(1), 4-4. doi:10.1186/1472-6955-13-4
- Creswell, J. W. (2007a). Data collection. In *Qualitative inquiry and research design:*Choosing among five approaches (2nd ed.; pp. 117-145). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007b). Standards of validation and evaluation. In *Qualitative inquiry and*research design: Choosing among five approaches (2nd ed.; pp. 201-221). Thousand

 Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Dickson, A., Horton, K., Machen, I., Bunn, F., Cove, J., Jain, D., & Maddex, T. (2011). The role of health professionals in promoting the uptake of fall prevention interventions: A qualitative study of older people's views. *Age and Ageing*, 40(6), 724-730. doi:10.1093/ageing/afr111
- Edmonson, D., Robinson, S., & Hughes, L. (2011). Development of the Edmonson psychiatric fall risk assessment tool. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 49(2), 29-36. doi:10.3928/02793695-20101202-03

- Estrin, I., Goetz, R., Hellerstein, D. J., Bennett-Staub, A., & Seirmarco, G. (2009). Predicting falls among psychiatric inpatients: A case-control study at a state psychiatric facility.

 *Psychiatric Services, 60(9), 1245-1250. doi:10.1176/ps.2009.60.9.1245
- Faes, M. C., Reelick, M. F., Joosten-Weyn Banningh, L. W., Gier, M. d., Esselink, R. A., & Olde Rikkert, M. G. (2010). Qualitative study on the impact of falling in frail older persons and family caregivers: Foundations for an intervention to prevent falls. *Aging & Mental Health*, *14*(7), 834-842. doi:10.1080/13607861003781825
- Farholm, A., & Sørensen, M. (2016). Motivation for physical activity and exercise in severe mental illness: A systematic review of cross-sectional studies. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 25(2), 116-126. doi:10.1111/inm.12217
- Fischer, I. D., Krauss, M. J., Dunagan, W. C., Birge, S., Hitcho, E., Johnson, S., ... Fraser, V. J. (2005). Patterns and predictors of inpatient falls and fall-related injuries in a large academic hospital. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, 26(10), 822-827. doi:10.1086/502500
- Fossey, E., Brophy, L., Grigg, M., Hamann, J., Hamilton, B., Harvey, C., ... Watson, S. (2012). Case Management. In G. Meadows, J. Farhall, E. Fossey, M. Grigg, F. McDermott, & B. Singh (Eds.), *Mental health in Australia: Collaborative community practice* (3rd ed.; pp. 428-450). Sydney: Oxford University Press.
- Gildengers, A. G., Mulsant, B. H., Begley, A., Mazumdar, S., Hyams, A. V., Reynolds III, C. F., ... Butters, M. A. (2009). The longitudinal course of cognition in older adults with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disorders*, 11(7), 744-752. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00739.x
- Gillespie, L. D., Robertson, M. C., Gillespie, W. J., Sherrington, C., Gates, S., Clemson, L. M. (2012). Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community.

- Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews, 2012(9). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007146.pub3
- Hendrie, H. C., Lindgren, D., Hay, D. P., Lane, K. A., Gao, S., Purnell, C., ... Callahan, C. M.
 (2013). Comorbidity profile and healthcare utilization in elderly patients with serious mental illnesses. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21(12), 1267-1276.
 doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2013.01.056
- Karim, S., Overshott, R., & Burns, A. (2005). Older people with chronic schizophrenia. *Aging & Mental Health*, *9*(4), 315-324. doi:10.1080/13607860500114167
- Li, F., Fisher, K. J., Harmer, P., McAuley, E., & Wilson, N. L. (2003). Fear of falling in elderly persons: Association with falls, functional ability, and quality of life. *The Journals of Gerontology*, *58*(5), 283-290. doi:10.1093/geronb/58.5.P283
- Lindsey, P. L. (2009). Psychotropic medication use among older adults: What all nurses need to know. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *35*(9), 28-38. doi: 10.3928/00989134-20090731-01
- Lord, S. R., Sherrington, C., Menz, H., & Close, J. (2007). Falls in older people: Risk factors and strategies for prevention (2nd ed.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mays, N., & Pope, C. (2000). Assessing quality in qualitative research. *BMJ*, 320(7226), 50-52. doi:10.1136/bmj.320.7226.50
- McMinn, B., Booth, A., Grist, E., & O'Brien, A. (2016). Falls and fall injury in mental health inpatient units for older people. *Australian Nursing and Midwifery Journal*, 24(5), 26-29. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1833125324/
- Milos, V., Bondesson, A., Magnusson, M., Jakobsson, U., Westerlund, T., & Midlöv, P. (2014). Fall risk-increasing drugs and falls: A cross-sectional study among elderly patients in primary care. *BMC Geriatrics*, *14*(1), 40-40. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-40

- Minichiello, V., Aroni, R., & Hays, T. (2008). The pragmatics of in-depth interviewing. In *Indepth interviewing: Principles, techniques, analysis* (3rd ed.; pp. 165-197). Frenchs Forest, NSW: Pearson Education Australia.
- Paliwal, Y., Slattum, P. W., & Ratliff, S. M. (2017). Chronic health conditions as a risk factor for falls among the community-dwelling US older adults: A zero-inflated regression modeling approach. *BioMed Research International*, 2017, 1-9.

 doi:10.1155/2017/5146378
- Roe, B., Howell, F., Riniotis, K., Beech, R., Crome, P., & Ong, B. N. (2008). Older people's experience of falls: Understanding, interpretation and autonomy. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 63(6), 586. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04735.x
- Scanlan, J., Wheatley, J., & McIntosh, S. (2012). Characteristics of falls in inpatient psychiatric units. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 20(4), 305-308. doi:10.1177/1039856212455250
- Scheffer, A. C., Schuurmans, M. J., van Dijk, N., van Der Hooft, T., & De Rooij, S. E. (2008). Fear of falling: Measurement strategy, prevalence, risk factors and consequences among older persons. *Age and Ageing*, *37*(1), 19-24. doi:10.1093/ageing/afm169
- Shankar, K. N., Taylor, D., Rizzo, C. T., & Liu, S. W. (2017). Exploring older adult ED fall patients' understanding of their fall: A qualitative study. *Geriatric Orthopaedic Surgery & Rehabilitation*, 8(4), 231-237. doi:10.1177/2151458517738440
- Tay, S. E., Quek, C. S., Pariyasami, S., Ong, B. C., Wee, B. C., Yeo, J. L., & Yeo, S. G. (2000). Fall incidence in a state psychiatric hospital in Singapore. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 38(9), 10-16. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/764104759/?pq-origsite=primo

- Terroso, M., Rosa, N., Torres Marques, A., & Simoes, R. (2014). Physical consequences of falls in the elderly: A literature review from 1995 to 2010. *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity*, 11(1), 51-59. doi:10.1007/s11556-013-0134-8
- Thornicroft, G., Brohan, E., Rose, D., Sartorius, N., & Leese, M. (2009). Global pattern of experienced and anticipated discrimination against people with schizophrenia: A cross-sectional survey. *Lancet*, *373*(9661), 408-415. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61817-6
- Wacker, R. R., & Roberto, K. A. (2013). Patterns of service use and theories of help-seeking behaviour. In *Community resources for older adults: Programs and services in an era of change* (4th ed.; pp. 36-50). Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.
- Weiner, R. D. (2000). Retrograde amnesia with electroconvulsive therapy: Characteristics and implications. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 57(6), 591-592. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.57.6.591
- World Health Organization. (2002). *Definition of an older or elderly person: Proposed*working definition of an older person in Africa for the MDS project. Retrieved from
 http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/
- Yardley, L., Donovan-Hall, M., Francis, K., & Todd, C. (2006). Older people's views of advice about falls prevention: A qualitative study. *Health Education Research*, 21(4), 508–517. doi:10.1093/her/cyh077

Table 1: *Interview questions*

1. Can you tell me about a fall you have had?

Where and when did the fall happen?

What was happening before and during the fall?

What were you doing at the time?

Who was present?

2. What do you think caused the fall?

What was different this time when you did this activity?

How did you feel before the fall?

What happened on the same day/the day before the fall?

3. What happened after the fall?

How did you manage to get up?

How did the fall affect you?

Were you injured? What did you do about the injury?

How did you feel after the fall?

4. What did you do differently after the fall?

Did the fall change how you feel about doing the activity?

What did you do to prevent falling again? Was it helpful?

5. Is there anything else you would like to share with me about your fall?

Table 2: Participant characteristics

Participant no.	Age	Gender	Mental health diagnoses	Medical Comorbidities	Living setting	Reported falls in past	Four or more
						five years	medications
1	74	Female	Anxiety depression	Parkinson's disease, hypertension, incontinence, gastro-esophageal reflux disease (GORD)	Family	4	Yes
2	68	Female	Schizoaffective disorder Bipolar affective disorder	Hypercholesterolaemia	Alone	1	Yes
3	73	Male	Schizophrenia	Raynaud's syndrome, GORD, thyroid cancer	Alone	5	Yes
4	88	Male	Obsessive compulsive disorder	Arthritis, arrhythmias	Family	Frequent falls	Yes
5	58	Female	Schizophrenia	Type II diabetes, obesity	Housemate	> 3 falls	Yes
6	80	Female	Schizoaffective disorder	Arthritis, hypothermia, hyponatremia, hypertension	Alone	3	Yes
7	75	Male	Bipolar affective disorder	Permanent complete heart block, hyperlipidaemia, iliac artery stenosis (bilateral claudication), benign paroxysmal positional vertigo, GORD	Alone	3	Yes
8	78	Female	Major depression Anxiety Posttraumatic stress disorder	Hypercholesterolaemia	Family	5	No
9	57	Male	Bipolar affective disorder Schizoaffective disorder	Diabetes, obesity	Alone	1	Yes
10	53	Female	Borderline personality disorder	Diabetes, obesity	Alone	4	Yes

Research Office

Kolling Building, Level 13 Royal North Shore Hospital St Leonards NSW 2065 Tel (02) 9926 4590 Fax (02) 9926 6179



21 June 2018

Professor Lynette Mackenzie Faculty of Health Services, 75 East Street Lidcombe, NSW, 2141

Dear Professor Mackenzie,

NSLHD reference: RESP/18/214

Study Title: A tailored falls prevention program for people aged 50+ with mental illness living in the community.

Thank you for submitting a response, dated **31/05/2018** to the Northern Sydney Local Health District HREC Executive Committee's request for additional information/modification of the above study, which was first considered at a meeting of the HREC Executive held **23/05/2018**. Based on the information you have provided and in accordance with the NHMRC National Statement 2007 and NSW Health Policy Directive PD2010_055 Ethical and Scientific Review of Human Research in NSW Public Health Organisations, this project has been assessed as low/negligible risk and is therefore exempt from full HREC review.

This HREC has been accredited by NSW Ministry of Health as a Lead HREC under the model for single ethical and scientific review and Certified by the NHMRC under the National model for Harmonisation of Multicentre Ethical Review (HoMER). This lead HREC is constituted and operates in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council's National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research and the CPMP/ICH Note for Guidance on Good Clinical Practice. No HREC members with a conflict of interest were present for review of this project.

I am pleased to advise that the HREC, at a meeting of its Executive Committee held on **20/06/2018** has granted ethical and scientific approval of the above **single centre** project. The HREC have determined that this project meets the requirements of the National Statement.

You are reminded that this letter constitutes *ETHICAL* and *SCIENTIFIC* approval only. You must not commence this research project at a site until a completed <u>Site Specific Assessment Form</u> and associated documentation have been submitted to the site Research Governance Officer and Authorised. A copy of this letter must be forwarded to all site investigators for submission to the relevant Research Governance Officer.

The project is approved to be conducted at

•

If a new site(s) is to be added please inform the HREC in writing and submit a Site Specific Assessment Form (SSA) to the Research Governance Officer at the new site.

The following documents have been approved:

Document	Version	Date
HREA	1.3.1	2018
Project Description	2	-
Patient Information Sheet	-	-
Consent Form	-	-
Interview Guide	-	-
Screening Tool	-	-
Study Information	-	-

The Human Research Ethics Application reviewed by the HREC was HREA AU/1/401639

Please note the following conditions of approval:

- HREC approval is valid for 5 years from the date of the HREC Executive Committee meeting and expires
 on 20/06/2023 The Co-ordinating Investigator is required to notify the HREC 6 months prior to this date if
 the project is expected to extend beyond the original approval date at which time the HREC will advise of
 the requirements for ongoing approval of the study.
- The Co-ordinating Investigator will provide an annual progress report to the Institution beginning in **August 2019** as well as a final study report at the completion of the project using the template available on the Research Office website. An annual report is due **every year on 30 August**.
- The Coordinating Investigator will immediately report anything which might warrant review of ethical
 approval of the project in the specified format, including unforeseen events that might affect continued
 ethical acceptability of the project and any complaints made by participants regarding the conduct of the
 project.
- Proposed changes to the research protocol, conduct of the research, or length of approval will be provided to the HREC Executive for review, in the specified format.
- The HREC Executive will be notified, giving reasons, if the project is discontinued before the expected date of completion.
- Investigators holding an academic appointment (including conjoint appointments) and students undertaking
 a project as part of a university course are advised to contact the relevant university HREC regarding any
 additional requirements for the project.

Should you have any queries about your project please contact the Research Office, ph. 9926 4590, email NSLHD-Research@health.nsw.gov.au.

Please quote NSLHD reference RESP/18/214 in all correspondence.

The HREC wishes you every success in your research.

Yours sincerely

Jodi Humphries

Research Ethics Manager

Johnson eys

Northern Sydney Local Health District

Research Office

Kolling Building, Level 13 Royal North Shore Hospital St Leonards NSW 2065 Tel (02) 9926 4590 Fax (02) 9926 6179



5 October 2018

A/ Professor Lynette Mackenzie Faculty of health sciences University of Sydney Lidcombe NSW 2141

Dear A/Prof Mackenzie,

NSLHD reference: RESP/18/214

Title: A tailored falls prevention program for people ages 50+ with mental illness living in the community.

Thank you for submitting an application for authorisation of this project. I am pleased to advise that the delegate of the Chief Executive for Northern Sydney Local Health District has granted authorisation for the above project to commence at

The version of the SSA reviewed by NSLHD RGO was: AU/2/C886312

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the **Northern Sydney Local Health District HREC** at a meeting of the Executive Committee **held** on **20 June 2018**.

The documents authorised for use at this site are:

Document	Version	Date
Human Research Ethics Application	AU/1/401639 (V1.3.1)	03 May 2018
Project Description	2	-
Patient Information Sheet	-	-
Consent Form	-	-
Interview Guide	-	-
Screening Tool	-	-
Study Information	-	-

The NSLHD RGO Notes:

External Researcher Pack for;

- Dr Meryl Patricia Lovarini
- A/ Professor Lynette Mackenzie

Site authorisation will cease on the date of HREC expiry 20 June 2023.

You are reminded that, in order to comply with the Guidelines for Good Clinical Research Practice (GCRP) in Australia, and in accordance with additional requirements of NSLHD, the Chief Investigator is responsible for ensuring the following:

- 1. The HREC is notified of anything that might warrant review of the ethical approval of the project, including unforeseen events that might affect the ethical acceptability of the project.
- 2. The HREC is notified of all Serious Adverse Events (SAEs) or Serious Unexpected Suspected Adverse Reactions (SUSARs) in accordance with the Serious Adverse Event Reporting Guidelines.

- 3. Proposed amendments to the research protocol or conduct of the research which may affect the ethical acceptability of the project, and are submitted to the lead HREC for review, are copied to the Research Governance Officer.
- 4. Proposed amendments to the research protocol or conduct of the research which may affect the ongoing site acceptability of the project are to be submitted to the Research Governance Officer.
- 5. The Institutional annual report for all Human Research is due to the NSLHD Research Office on the 30 August. In addition, annual report acknowledgment from the Lead HREC should be submitted to the Research Governance Officer.

Standard forms and additional guidance documents are available on the Research Office Website: http://www.nslhd.health.nsw.gov.au/AboutUs/Research/Office

Yours sincerely

Natanya Hunt

Research Governance Officer Research Office Northern Sydney Local Health District

Appendix B





Faculty of Health Sciences

Cumberland Campus

75 East St

Lidcombe NSW 2141

Phone: (02) 9351 2222

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

QUALITATIVE STUDY

Exploring the past falls experience of community-dwelling people aged 50 and over with mental illness

Invitation

You are invited to participate in a research study exploring the past falls experience of adults with mental illness aged 50 or over living in the community.

The study is being conducted by:

Associate Professor Lynette Mackenzie (The University of Sydney)

Dr. Meryl Lovarini (Lecturer, The University of Sydney)

Mandy Meehan (Occupational Therapist,

Diane Grayshon (Registered Nurse,

Before you decide whether or not you wish to participate in this study, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take the time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish.

1. 'What is the purpose of this study?'

The purpose of this study is to understand your experience of a fall(s) you had in the past.

2. 'Why have I been invited to participate in this study?'

You have been invited to participate in this study because you have been identified as a consumer at the study.

3. 'What if I don't want to take part in this study, or if I want to withdraw later?' Participation in this study is voluntary. It is completely up to you whether or not you participate. If you decide not to participate, it will not affect the treatment you receive now or in the future. Whatever your decision, it will not affect your relationship with anyone at The University of Sydney or

If you wish to withdraw from the study once it has started, you can do so at any time without having to give a reason. You can also request that any unprocessed reidentifiable and individually identifiable data that you have contributed to the study be withdrawn.

4. 'What does this study involve?'

If you agree to participate in this study, you will first be asked to sign the Participant Consent Form.

Then we will ask you to participate in one (1) interview. The interview will take place at at a convenient time to understand your past fall experience. The interview will take approximately 45 minutes and will be audio recorded with your permission. You will be given the opportunity to review your interview transcript to correct any errors or inaccuracies.

5. 'Are there risks to me in taking part in this study?'

There are no known risks to participating in the study. Participants may experience some inconvenience due to the time involved in being interviewed.

6. 'Will I benefit from the study?'

This study aims to increase knowledge regarding falls in adults with mental illness living in the community. However, we cannot guarantee that you will directly benefit from this study.

7. 'Will taking part in this study cost me anything, and will I be paid?

Participation in this study will not cost you anything except your time and you will not be paid for your participation.

8. 'How will my confidentiality be protected?'

Of the people involved in the falls prevention program, only the researchers named in this Participant Information Sheet will know whether or not you are participating in this study. Any identifiable information that is collected about you in connection with this study will remain strictly confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission, or except as required by law. Only the researchers and the Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) for monitoring purposes will have access to your details and results that will be held securely at The University of Sydney and Health Centre.

9. 'What happens with the results?'

We will include the study results in reports, presentations at conferences and publications in peer-reviewed journals.

In any publication, information will be provided in such a way that you cannot be identified. The results of the study will be provided to you, if you wish.

10. 'What should I do if I want to discuss this study further before I decide?' When you have read this information, the research student Ling Koh will discuss it with you and any queries you may have. If you would like to know more at any stage, please do not hesitate to contact her on 0435 475 957 or the principle investigator Associate Professor Lynette Mackenzie on (02) 9351 9832.

11. 'Who should I contact if I have concerns about the conduct of this study?' This study has been approved by the Northern Sydney Local Health District HREC. Any person with concerns or complaints about the conduct of this study should contact the Research Office who is nominated to receive complaints from research participants. You should contact them on 02 9926 4590 and quote RESP/18/214.

Thank you for taking the time to consider this study.

If you wish to take part in it, please sign the attached consent form.

This information sheet is for you to keep.

Appendix C





Faculty of Health Sciences

Cumberland Campus

75 East St

Lidcombe NSW 2141

Phone: (02) 9351 2222

CONSENT FORM

QUALITATIVE STUDY

Exploring the past falls experience of community-dwelling people aged 50 and over with mental illness

1.	l,
	of
	agree to participate as a participant in the study described in the Participant
	Information Sheet set out above.

- 2. I acknowledge that I have read the Participant Information Sheet, which explains why I have been selected, the aims of the study and the nature and the possible risks of the investigation, and the statement has been explained to me to my satisfaction.
- 3. Before signing this consent form, I have been given the opportunity of asking any questions relating to my participation and I have received satisfactory answers.
- 4. I understand that I can withdraw from the study at any time without prejudice to my relationship to the investigators, The University of Sydney or Health Centre. If so I wish, I may request that any unprocessed data I have supplied be withdrawn from the study.
- 5. I agree that research data gathered from the results of the study may be published, provided that I cannot be identified.
- 6. I understand that if I have any questions relating to my participation in this research, I may contact Ling Koh on 0435 475 957 who will be happy to answer them.
- 7. I acknowledge receipt of a copy of this Consent Form and the Participant Information Sheet.

Signature of witness	Please PRINT name	Date	
Signature of participant	Please PRINT name	Date	
Complaints may be directed to the North Shore Hospital, St Leonards Phone 02 9926 4590 email NSLF	NSW 2065		
I would like to receive a sum	mary of the research findings	YES NO	
I would like to review my into	erview transcript	YES NO	
 Audio-recording of the 	ne interview	YES NO	
Participate in a 45-mi	nute interview	YES NO	_

Australian Occupational Therapy Journal Requirements

Author Guidelines

CONTENTS

- 1. SUBMITTING TO AUSTRALIAN OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY JOURNAL
- 2. EDITORIAL CONSIDERATIONS
- 3. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS
- 4. ARTICLE TYPES AND REQUIREMENTS
- 5. PREPARING THE MANUSCRIPT
- 6. COPYRIGHT, LICENSING AND ONLINE OPEN
- 7. PUBLICATION PROCESS AFTER ACCEPTANCE
- 8. POST PUBLICATION
- 9. EDITORIAL OFFICE CONTACT DETAILS

1. SUBMITTING TO AUSTRALIAN OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY JOURNAL

Thank you for your interest in Australian Occupational Therapy Journal. Submissions are only received through the "Scholar One" manuscript central website accessed through the journal home page.

Authors should register at https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/aotj and follow online submission instructions. Manuscripts that fail to meet requirements of the Author Guidelines will be rejected without review.

For help with submissions, please contact the Editorial Assistant: aot.eo@wiley.com

Australian Occupational Therapy Journal Article Submission "Checklist for Authors"

The following checklist will appear as part of the online submission process. Authors must confirm adherence to all items.

I have adhered to all of the following in the manuscript submitted

- The manuscript was double-spaced in 12 point Times New Roman or Times Roman font and does not exceed the permitted word count.
- I used Australian-English spelling.
- The abbreviation of "OT" or "OTs" was not used.
- The submitted manuscript did not contain any identifying information about specific people, programs, locations or study sites.
- I consulted the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Sixth Edition* and/or the official companion APA Style Blog (http://blog.apastyle.org/apastyle/) to prepare correct citations and references. All journal articles published after 1997 included the digital object identifier (doi) presented according to APA style rules.
- The corresponding author obtained and included his/her ORCID number.
- The "Abstract" was no longer than 300 words and used the following headings: Introduction; Methods; Results; Conclusion.
- Abbreviations followed the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Sixth Edition*/or the official companion APA Style Blog (http://blog.apastyle.org/apastyle/); this included abbreviations in the reference list.
- Up to five keywords were selected from either the U.S National Library of Medicine Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/) or the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature Thesaurus. Only MeSH or CINAHL words were used.
- The Main Document used subheadings set out in the Guidelines.
- If my study used humans, I provided details of the Institutional Review Board, Human Research Ethics Committee or equivalent delegated authority in the Scholar One form where indicated and these details were also written into the Method Section of the manuscript (blinded for review)
- Research articles followed the reporting guidelines presented in http://www.equator-network.org/. I note reviewers will be asked to evaluate the manuscript in light of these guidelines.

I provided evidence of adherence as a supplementary document: e.g., prospective clinical trial registration.

- A section called "Key Points for Occupational Therapy" was included at the end of the paper, before "references".
- A section called "Declaration of Authorship" was included after "Key Points" and before "references". The declaration stated the contribution of each author to the paper and any conflict of interest. I/we used wording that demonstrated adherence to the roles and responsibilities of authors described in the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) recommendations (http://www.icmje.org/).
- A section called "Funding" was included after the author declaration.
- People or institutions who were acknowledged gave written permission.

2. EDITORIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Aims and Scope

The Australian Occupational Therapy Journal is a leading international peer reviewed publication presenting influential, high quality innovative scholarship and research relevant to occupational therapy.

The journal is the official research publication of the professional peak body, Occupational Therapy Australia. The journal publishes empirical studies, theoretical papers, reviews and invited scholarly commentary.

The aim of the journal is to be a leader in the dissemination of scholarship and evidence to substantiate, influence and shape policy and occupational therapy practice locally and globally.

Preference will be given to papers that have a sound theoretical basis, methodological rigour with sufficient scope and scale to make important new contributions to the occupational therapy body of knowledge.

Topics may include:

- how participation in occupation is affected by body structures and function domains
- participation in occupations across the lifespan
- environments affecting engagement in occupation and occupational therapy services (physical, social, policy etc.)
- interaction of person, environment and occupation factors to influence health
- people who receive, could receive or who are impacted by occupational therapy practice, policy or education;
- assessments measuring constructs relevant to and applied in occupational therapy research, practice or education;
- occupational therapy interventions (development, implementation and impact)
- scope of occupational therapy practice
- professionalisation and professionalism in occupational therapy
- pedagogy and educational practice involving occupational therapy, including interprofessional, multidisciplinary, transdisciplinary and single discipline research that includes occupational therapy and/or occupational therapy students/ staff.

AOT does not publish protocols for any study design

Authors must position their study in an appropriate and sound theoretical and empirical context; with a critical analysis of relevant literature in the Introduction section. The manuscript must demonstrate how findings make an important contribution to knowledge in the field.

For quantitative papers, authors are encouraged to demonstrate how their studies enable replication, generalizability and contribute to understanding possible or actual causality. Typically this will involve reporting using guidelines such as those available in the EQUATOR network. Authors must use measures that are well validated and have proven psychometric properties.

Authors are encouraged to triangulate data to substantiate their findings where appropriate, for example: self-report measures and performance observation measures; therapist and consumer measures/ perspectives.

The journal preferences qualitative research that contributes to development of substantive or formal theory, is empirically grounded, is internally reflexive and has explored its value for different groups including study participants. Studies that demonstrably illuminate aspects of occupational therapy and can thus inform decision making will be of particular interest to readers. Qualitative studies must demonstrate transferability, dependability, trustworthiness, and credibility.

In mixed method research, authors are required to clearly outline how the a-priori design demonstrates integration of qualitative and quantitative methods during data collection, analysis and reporting. When a mixed method approach is reported, authors should clearly identify the design (e.g., sequential explanatory, sequential exploratory, concurrent nested, etc.) and report which data took priority during data collection and analysis (e.g., did qualitative data lead the results with support from the quantitative?). Consideration should be given to whether the approach used is mixed or multiple methods.

Instrumentation studies present the development and/or evaluation of the psychometric properties of a tool – reliability, validity, sensitivity, clinical utility. The journal has a preference for standardised taxonomies such as COSMIN.

The Australian Occupational Therapy Journal receives many more papers than it can publish. Studies may be methodologically appropriate, have significant or original results, but that may not mean the paper is a significant contribution to new knowledge. The journal aims to publish research that will provide a rigorous, relevant evidence base to inform professional practice and decisions relating to occupational therapy. Authors must demonstrate that their research is thus not only technically competent but is an original and significant contribution to knowledge and practice.

The journal will consider multidisciplinary or interprofessional studies that include occupational therapy, occupational therapists or occupational therapy students, so long as 'key points' highlight the specific implications for occupational therapy, occupational therapists and/or occupational therapy students and/or consumers.

If authors extract material from single larger interprofessional or multidisciplinary studies for an occupational therapy-specific study, these papers are only acceptable if distinct and separate questions are asked, if a theoretically and empirically grounded rationale is provided for the extracted study, and if the methodology is appropriate to the question

If authors are submitting a paper where data is derived from a larger study, authors are required to disclose all related publications that are published, submitted or under review. If authors state that aspects of the study have already been published, a case must be made to demonstrate how the present paper is distinctive and makes a significant contribution to knowledge.

Conditions of submission

Papers submitted to the journal must not be presenting content that has been previously published. The only exceptions to this rule are the following: conference abstracts; part of a published lecture or academic thesis; as an electronic preprint; poster/ abstract/ oral presentation presented at a conference or scientific meeting where proceedings are available on a pre-print server

Papers that present clinical trials are not deemed to have been previously published if they appear in clinical trials registers and/or if results in such registers are presented as a brief summary or table.

Papers submitted to the journal must not be under consideration for publication elsewhere.

If accepted for publication, authors agree the paper will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, including electronically without the written consent of the copyright-holder which is the journal publisher. Authors must be aware that in signing the copyright form they are entering a legal agreement not to disseminate or republish the journal-article on any file sharing site, by email attachment, in thesis dissertations or in any other form. Authors are able to disseminate the pre-production manuscript if they own the copyright and they

are able to include citation details of the Australian Occupational Therapy Journal published paper on such documents.

All papers submitted to the *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal* are subject to automated text-matching software screening which reports a % similarity index.

Editorial Processes

All submissions are inspected by the Editorial Team first to determine whether all criteria in the "Checklist for Authors" have been met. A paper that does not meet criteria will be rejected and returned to authors.

Second, Editorial inspection determines whether or not papers are within the journal "Aims and Scope". The Editorial Board may decide to reject any paper not deemed to be within the Aims and Scope of the journal. A reason for rejection will be provided. The decision is final.

A paper deemed to be in line with the "Aims and Scope" of the Journal will be blind-reviewed by one member of the Editorial or Review Board and either a specialist guest-reviewer or another member of the Editorial or Review Board. Reviewers will provide feedback using the *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal* review-form. Reviewers will be directed to consider the methodological quality of the study and may choose to use standardised critical appraisal tools. Reviewers will provide blind comment to authors regarding the manuscript. Reviewers will make confidential recommendations to the Editorial Board regarding publication priority. The Editorial Board will use reviewer reports to inform decisions regarding acceptance, rejection, or provision of opportunities to revise and resubmit. Resubmissions have no guarantee they will be accepted. A rejection decision is final; no further correspondence will be entered into.

An accepted paper is submitted to the WILEY production process.

Authors will receive the page-proofs for their paper and are required to review for accuracy; any changes beyond accuracy may incur a charge. The author-approved proof is sent to the Editor in Chief for final review. The Editor and the Publisher reserve the right to make minor modifications to typescripts to correct spelling or grammar issues that have been overlooked, or eliminate ambiguity and repetition. A paper is not approved for publication, regardless of the stage of review or correspondence sent and received until the Editor in Chief approves publication of the final proof. If an author identifies an error after publication that is their responsibility, he/she/they are responsible for costs associated with correction and publication of corregium.

3. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

This journal is a member of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

Human Studies

For manuscripts reporting studies involving human participants or data originally generated from human participants (e.g., chart reviews, program evaluations, secondary data analyses), we require a statement identifying how ethical and /or research governance approval was obtained, where and under what authority it was granted. Authors must provide the name of the committee and state the reference number where appropriate. The name of the approving committee/s should be included in the manuscript (but de-identified for blind review purposes) – it is not acceptable to refer to "researcher institutional ethics committees" in general.

For research conducted in Australia or through Australian institutions the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research 2007 - updated May 2015 applies (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines-publications/e72).; for research with Indigenous Australians this also includes the companion document "Values and Ethics - Guidelines for Ethical Conduct in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Research" (NHMRC, 2003).

For research conducted by investigators in countries other than Australia, there is a requirement for authors to demonstrate that the research complied with principles of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research involving Human Subjects as amended October 2000 and that research was conducted with institutional or equivalent approvals consistent with the World Health Organization "Standards and operational guidance for ethics review of health-related research with human participants" (2011). Failure to provide this information or demonstrate this requirement will result in the submission being rejected.

Clinical Trial Registration

Clinical trials will normally be prospectively registered in a publicly accessible database and clinical trial registration numbers should be included in all papers that report results. Include the name of the trial register and your clinical trial registration number at the end of your abstract.

If your trial is not registered, or was registered retrospectively, please explain the reasons for this in the cover letter.

Research Reporting Guidelines

Accurate and complete reporting enables readers to fully appraise research, replicate it, and use it. The *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal* will publish positive, negative and inconclusive results as long as the research is rigorous.

Authors must adhere to research reporting standards presented in the EQUATOR network (http://www.equator-network.org/).

Authors must submit the relevant EQUATOR reporting guideline checklist as a not-to-bepublished supplementary document to the submission. If authors do not believe one of these guidelines is appropriate a rationale must be provided in the cover letter and an alternative standards benchmark provided.

Roles and Responsibilities of Authors

An author is someone who demonstrates roles and responsibilities defined by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) (http://www.icmje.org/). A declaration must be made to this effect.

The ICMJE recommends that authorship be based on the following criteria: (i) Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; (ii) Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; (iii) Final approval of the version to be published; and (iv) Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Conflict of Interest

Authors should disclose any actual or perceived conflicts of interest. Any interest or relationship, financial or otherwise that might be perceived as influencing an author's objectivity is considered a potential source of conflict of interest. These must be disclosed when directly relevant or directly related to the work that the authors describe in their manuscript. Potential sources of conflict of interest include, but are not limited to, patent or stock ownership, membership of a company board of directors, membership of an advisory board or committee for a company, and consultancy for or receipt of speaker's fees from a company. The existence of a conflict of interest does not preclude publication. If the authors have no conflict of interest to declare, they must also state this at submission. It is the responsibility of the corresponding author to review this policy with all authors and collectively to disclose with the submission ALL pertinent commercial and other relationships.

Funding

Authors must make a funding statement. This will appear at the end of the paper before the reference section. Authors should list all funding sources. All funding received for work described within a submitted manuscript must be acknowledged in the funding disclosure section. Provide the name of the funder, the grant number, and the name of the principal investigator as applicable. If there was no specific study funding, then the authors should report the following statement: "This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors."

Acknowledgements

The contribution of colleagues or institutions can be acknowledged. Personal thanks and thanks to anonymous reviewers are not appropriate. Acknowledgements should contain information on individuals who have contributed to this work but did not meet the criteria for authorship or decline to be included as an author. All those individuals who are named in the acknowledgements must be contacted by the author and agree to have their name included. Each individual's specific contribution to the work must be briefly stated. Acknowledgements of general support or

mentorship will be deleted by the editor as acknowledgements are only for those individuals who have provided a specific contribution to this work. In addition, the authors must provide information on previous dissemination of this work, in part or whole, at conferences or workshops. Prior presentation of the paper at a meeting should be briefly described last.

4. ARTICLE TYPES AND REQUIREMENTS

Type of Article	Word limit (excluding abstract, references, tables and figures	Abstract required - word limit	Number of references allowable	No. of tables or figure files
Feature	5000	300	35	4
Review *	5000	300	35	4#
Viewpoints (invited only)	2000	150	15	2
Critically Appraised Papers	800	NA	10	0
Letter to Editor	300	NA	3	0

^{*} Refer to full detail regarding length, references and tables for Review Articles below # Usually published in online-only format

All articles

All articles must be accompanied by a cover letter that addresses how the paper complies with conditions of submission.

If content is derived from a larger study, study series or previously published work, the authors must explain in the cover letter how their submission makes an original and substantial contribution to new knowledge and they must include citations and doi links for all related/derivative studies.

The cover letter should include a statement regarding written permissions for photographs, personal communications, and copyrighted material. These written permissions should be attached to the cover letter.

The cover letter should confirm that any person or institution named in the acknowledgements has given permission

Feature Articles

Feature Articles can be in the form of research papers, theoretical papers, case reports or descriptive articles. Manuscripts should not exceed 5000 words including Key Points, Author Declaration and conflict of interest, funding and acknowledgement. The Title, Abstract and References are not included in the word count. The journal does not publish articles that present only study protocols without results.

Feature articles should contain the following:

Title page: This will be a separate file to the main document – upload using the "title page" option in Scholar One. The title page should contain:

(i) a short informative title that contains the major content concepts. The title should not contain abbreviations (see our best practice SEO tips);

- (ii) the full names, qualifications and designations of the authors;
- (iii) the full addresses of the authors' affiliations;
- (iv) a short running title (no more than 40 characters, abbreviations are permitted);
- (v) authors' declaration of authorship contribution*;
- (vi) funding statement*;
- (vii) conflict of interest statement*;
- (viii) acknowledgements*;
- (ix) word length for the main text excluding references, abstract and tables;
- (x) word length of the abstract;
- (xi) the number of references, figures and tables include as part of article;
- (xii) Designate the corresponding author by providing his or her full address, telephone and fax numbers, and e-mail address.
- (xiii) A minimum of five MeSH or CINAHL terms should be included as key words

*In the printed publication these will appear at the end of the paper before "references" – they are included here in the title page because this is not sent out to reviewers.

Structured abstract. 300 word limit including Introduction, methods, results and conclusion.

Introduction: The aims of the article should be clearly stated and a theoretical framework (if applicable) should be presented with reference to established theoretical model(s) and background literature. A succinct review of current literature should set the work in context. The introduction should not contain findings or conclusions. The aim of the research should be stated at the end of the introduction section.

Methods: This should provide a description of the method (including recruitment of subjects, study procedures, instruments and data analysis) in sufficient detail to allow the work to be repeated by others. Name (but de-identify for review) the Human research Ethics Committee/s or equivalent if human participants were involved.

Results: Results should be presented in a logical sequence in the text, tables and figures. Participant characteristics are presented in results. The same data should not be presented repetitively in different forms.

Discussion: The discussion should consider the results in relation to the study purpose, practice and scholarly context. The relationship of your results to the work of others and relevant methodological points could also be discussed. Limitations of the study should be identified. Implications for practice and future research should be considered. A conclusion section may be used but is not mandatory.

Key Points for Occupational Therapy: This is included at the end of the paper, before "references". It comprises a bulleted list of three points summarising implications of the paper for occupational therapy practice/ policy or and or education. These should not exceed 45 words in total (that is, 10-15 words each). Each point should reflect the journal's aim and scope above and must not simply restate the findings.

References: No more than 35 references.

Standard inclusions of Author Declaration including conflict of interest, funding statement, acknowledgement if appropriate: This will be a separate file to the Main Document – upload as "supplementary file" not for review. Normally no more than 100 words.

Tables and/or Figures: No more than 4 will be included. Large Tables or Figures may be published as on-line only files to permit efficient production of the print-version of the journal. The file link will be published in the print version.

Appendices are not permitted.

(Reporting Guidelines will normally be included as a non-published supplementary file in the submission. In some cases, e.g., CONSORT flow-chart, aspects of the guidelines may be included in the main document)

Reviews

Narrative reviews, scoping reviews, meta-syntheses, systematic reviews and meta-analyses are included in this category. The journal does not publish articles that present only review protocols.

Review articles should contain the following:

Title page: This will be a separate file to the main document – upload using the "title page" option in Scholar One. The title page should contain:

- (i) a short informative title that contains the major content concepts. The title should not contain abbreviations (see our best practice SEO tips);
- (ii) the full names, qualifications and designations of the authors;
- (iii) the full addresses of the authors' affiliations;
- (iv) a short running title (no more than 40 characters, abbreviations are permitted);
- (v) authors' declaration of authorship contribution*;
- (vi) funding statement*;
- (vii) conflict of interest statement*;
- (viii) acknowledgements*;
- (ix) word length for the main text excluding references, abstract and tables;
- (x) word length of the abstract;
- (xi) the number of references, figures and tables include as part of article;
- (xii) Designate the corresponding author by providing his or her full address, telephone and fax numbers, and e-mail address.
- (xiii) A minimum of five MeSH or CINAHL terms should be included as key words; Note that MeSH key words are reviewed by an indexer and may be edited.

*In the printed publication these will appear at the end of the paper before "references" – they are included here in the title page because this is not sent out to reviewers.

Structured abstract: No more than 300 words including Introduction, methods, results and conclusion.

Introduction: A rationale and context for the review must be provided. The aim of the review should be stated at the end of the introduction section.

Methods: The methodology used to design and conduct the review should be presented in sufficient detail to allow the work to be repeated by others.

Results: Results should be presented in a logical sequence in the text, tables and figures. Details of sources retrieved and analysis findings are presented in results. The same data should not be presented repetitively in different forms.

Discussion: The discussion should consider the results in relation to the study purpose, practice and scholarly context. The relationship of your results to the work of others and relevant methodological points could also be discussed. Limitations of the review should be identified. Implications for practice and future research should be considered. A conclusion section may be used but is not mandatory.

Key Points for Occupational Therapy: This is included at the end of the paper, before "references". It comprises a bulleted list of three points summarising implications of the paper for occupational therapy practice/ policy or and or education. These should not exceed 45 words in total (that is, 10-15 words each). Each point should reflect the journal's aim and scope above and must not simply restate the findings.

References: Review articles use references as part of the introduction, method and in the discussion to frame the study. They also present references as 'data' or findings. Authors should consider these two reference types when preparing the manuscript. Up to 20 "usual" main document references may be used (i.e., sources cited in the introduction, method and discussion to place the review findings in context). There is no limit on the number of 'references' reported in the research results. Typically author, title, source details will be presented in 'results tables', but the full citation with doi will appear in the reference list along with "usual" references.

Standard inclusions of Author Declaration including conflict of interest, funding statement, acknowledgement if appropriate: This will be a separate file to the Main Document – upload as "supplementary file" not for review. Normally this will be no more than 100 words.

Tables and/or Figures: No more than 4 will be included. Large Tables or Figures may be published as on-line only files to permit efficient production of the print-version of the journal. The file link will be published in the print version.

Appendices are not permitted.

(Reporting Guidelines will normally be included as a non-published supplementary file in the submission)

Viewpoints

Viewpoints are Invitation only papers. Viewpoints provide a forum for the debate and discussion of pertinent occupational therapy issues and related concerns. Authors are encouraged to discuss topical and controversial issues, and to do so in a manner that sheds light on or challenges established practices and beliefs. In many cases, discussion will require attention to varying opinions. A viewpoint may be an appropriate avenue for readers to debate the content of previous Viewpoints or other articles that have appeared in the journal. Proposals for Viewpoint articles can be made to the Editorial Board via the Editorial Office (aot.eo@wiley.com); provide a rationale, brief outline of the topic and the position to be taken.

Viewpoints should contain the following:

Title Page:

Abstract: No more than 150 words

Main document: No more than 2000 words,

References: No more than 15 references.

Author declaration including conflict of interest: This should be supplied, to be published at the discretion of the Editorial Board

Critically Appraised Papers

Critically Appraised Papers are solicited by the Editorial Office. If you would like to propose an idea for a CAP, please contact the Editorial Office (aot.eo@wiley.com) with a brief outline of the topic.

Letters to the Editor

Letters to the Editor will only be published online.

Main Document: No more than 300 words

References: No more than 3 references using APA format including doi numbers.

Author declaration including conflict of interest: This should be supplied, to be published at the discretion of the Editorial Board

5. PREPARING THE MANUSCRIPT

Writing for Search Engine Optimization

Optimize the search engine results for your paper, so people can find, read and ultimately cite your work. Simply read our best practice SEO tips – including information on making your title and abstract SEO-friendly, and choosing appropriate MESH keywords.

http://www.wiley.com/legacy/wileyblackwell/pdf/SEOforAuthorsLINKSrev.pdf

Spelling. The journal uses Australian spelling and authors should therefore follow the latest edition of the Macquarie Dictionary. Note spelling of the following commonly used words spelled based on Australian standards: centre, standardise, hospitalise, analyse, civilise, ageing, colour, honour, program, paediatrician, install. Please note the difference between practice as a noun and practise as a verb.

APA Style. Manuscripts should follow the style of the American Psychological Association (6th edition), except in regards to spelling. The APA website includes a range of resources for authors learning to write in APA style, including An overview of the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Sixth Edition; free tutorials on APA Style basics and an APA Style

Blog. Please note APA referencing style requires that a DOI be provided for all references where available.

Footnotes and Endnotes are not to be used.

Terminology. Choice of terminology used to describe a person with an impairment or disorder should reflect respect (e.g., do not use 'an autistic', 'the epileptics', 'the mentally retarded'), should protect dignity (e.g., do not use 'suffering', 'case'), and should be free of stereotypes (e.g., do not use 'confined to a wheelchair', 'victim').

Units. All measurements must be given in the International System of Units (SI) or SI-derived units, being the modern form of the metric system.

Statistics. Exact p values should be given to no more than three decimal places. Wherever possible give both point estimates and confidence intervals for all population parameters estimated by the study (e.g. group differences, frequency of characteristics). Identify the statistical package used.

Abbreviations. Abbreviations should be used sparingly - only where they ease the reader's task by reducing repetition of long, technical terms. Initially use the word in full, followed by the abbreviation in parentheses. Thereafter use the abbreviation only. Do not use abbreviations in the title or abstract of the article. The abbreviation of OT referring to occupational therapist or occupational therapy is not acceptable in the manuscript. Use occupational therapist or occupational therapy, as appropriate.

Supporting Information Supporting information is not essential to the article but provides greater depth and background and may include tables, figures, videos, datasets, etc. This material can be submitted with your manuscript, and will appear online, without editing or typesetting. Guidelines on how to prepare this material and which formats and files sizes are acceptable can be found at: http://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/suppmat.asp Please note that the provision of supporting information is not encouraged as a general rule. It will be assessed critically by reviewers and editors and will only be accepted if it is essential.

File Upload

Scholar One will cue authors to input information and upload files in a particular order. Some information (e.g., author details, title details) is required as input into text boxes as well as upload files.

You will need to have the following files ready to upload into the system:

- (i) Title Page
- (ii) Main document (including references)
- (iii) Tables you must input a Table Number and Title for each when uploading
- (iv) Figures/Image you must input a Figure Number and Title for each when uploading
- (v) Supplementary on-line only files for publication and review(e.g., original author-designed survey instruments)
- (vi) Supplementary files not for publication or review(e.g., reporting guidelines; consent of people in photographs etc)

Figures and Tables

There is a limit of four tables and/or figures/ images per manuscript.

Tables

Tables should be self-contained and complement, but not duplicate, information contained in the text. Number tables consecutively in the text in Arabic numerals. Type tables on a separate sheet with the legend above. Legends should be concise but comprehensive - the table, legend and footnotes must be understandable without reference to the text. Vertical lines should not be used to separate columns. Column headings should be brief, with units of measurement in parentheses; all abbreviations must be defined in footnotes. Footnote symbols: †, ‡, §, ¶, should be used (in that order) and *, **, *** should be reserved for P-values. Statistical measures such as SD or SEM should be identified in the headings.

Table and Figure Titles and Legends

Legends should be concise but comprehensive - the figure and its legend must be understandable without reference to the text. Include definitions of any symbols used and define/explain all abbreviations and units of measurement.

Figures

All illustrations (line drawings and photographs) are classified as figures. Figures should be cited in consecutive order in the text. Magnifications should be indicated using a scale bar on the illustration.

Preparation of Electronic Figures for Publication: Although low quality images are adequate for review purposes, publication requires high quality images to prevent the final product being blurred or fuzzy. Submit EPS (line art) or TIFF (halftone/photographs) files only. MS PowerPoint and Word Graphics are unsuitable for printed pictures. Do not use pixel-oriented programs. Scans (TIFF only) should have a resolution of 300 dpi (halftone) or 600 to 1200 dpi (line drawings) in relation to the reproduction size (see below). EPS files should be saved with fonts embedded (and with a TIFF preview if possible). For scanned images, the scanning resolution (at final image size) should be as follows to ensure good reproduction: line art: >600 dpi; half-tones (including gel photographs): >300 dpi; figures containing both halftone and line images: >600 dpi. More advice on figures can be found at Wiley's guidelines for preparation of figures: http://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/illustration.asp

Colour figure publication charges. A charge of A\$1000/US\$530 for the first three colour figures and A\$500/US\$265 for each extra colour figure thereafter will be charged to the author.

Photographs

Statements of permission to publish must accompany all photographs of identifiable persons at the time of submission. Authors must provide signed statements of permission from people cited for personal communications at the time of submission.

6. COPYRIGHT, LICENSING AND ONLINE OPEN

Accepted papers will be passed to Wiley's production team for publication. The author identified as the formal corresponding author for the paper will receive an email prompting them to login into Wiley's Author Services, where via the Wiley Author Licensing Service (WALS) they will be asked to complete an electronic license agreement on behalf of all authors on the paper.

Authors may choose to publish under the terms of the journal's standard copyright transfer agreement (CTA), or under open access terms made available via Wiley OnlineOpen.

Standard Copyright Transfer Agreement: FAQs about the terms and conditions of the standard CTA in place for the journal, including standard terms regarding archiving of the accepted version of the paper, are available at: Copyright Terms and Conditions FAQs.

Note that in signing the journal's licence agreement authors agree that consent to reproduce figures from another source has been obtained.

OnlineOpen – Wiley's Open Access Option: OnlineOpen is available to authors of articles who wish to make their article freely available to all on Wiley Online Library under a Creative Commons license. With OnlineOpen, the author, the author's funding agency, or the author's institution pays a fee to ensure that the article is made open access. Authors of OnlineOpen articles are permitted to post the final, published PDF of their article on their personal website, and in an institutional repository or other free public server immediately after publication. All OnlineOpen articles are treated in the same way as any other article. They go through the journal's standard peer-review process and will be accepted or rejected based on their own merit.

OnlineOpen licenses. Authors choosing OnlineOpen retain copyright in their article and have a choice of publishing under the following Creative Commons License terms: Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY); Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (CC BY NC); Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License (CC BY NC ND). To preview the terms and conditions of these open access agreements please visit the Copyright Terms and Conditions FAQs.

Funder Open Access and Self-Archiving Compliance: Please click here for more information on Wiley's compliance with specific Funder Open Access and Self Archiving Policies, and click here for more detailed information specifically about Self-Archiving definitions and policies.

7. PUBLICATION PROCESS AFTER ACCEPTANCE

Wiley's Author Services

Author Services enables authors to track their article throughout the production process to publication online and in print. Authors can check the status of their articles online and choose to receive automated e-mails at key stages of production. The corresponding author will receive a unique link that enables them to register and have their article automatically added to the system. Please ensure that a complete e-mail address is provided when submitting the manuscript. Visit www.wileyauthors.com/track for more details on online production tracking.

Proofs

Once the paper has been typeset the corresponding author will receive an e-mail alert containing instructions on how to provide proof corrections to the article. It is therefore essential that a working e-mail address is provided for the corresponding author. Proofs should be corrected carefully; responsibility for detecting errors lies with the author.

Early View

The journal offers rapid speed to publication via Wiley's Early View service. Early View articles are complete full-text articles published online in advance of their publication in a printed issue. Early View articles are complete and final. They have been fully reviewed, revised and edited for publication, and the authors' final corrections have been incorporated. Because they are in final form, no changes can be made after online publication. Early View articles are given a Digital Object Identifier (DOI), which allows the article to be cited and tracked before allocation to an issue. After print publication, the DOI remains valid and can continue to be used to cite and access the article. More information about DOIs can be found at http://www.doi.org/faq.html.

8. POST PUBLICATION

Article PDF for authors

A PDF of the article will be made available to the corresponding author via Author Services.

Printed Offprints

Printed offprints may be ordered online for a fee. Please click on the following link and fill in the necessary details and ensure that you type information in all of the required fields: http://offprint.cosprinters.com/cos. If you have queries about offprints please e-mail: offprint@cosprinters.com.

Author Marketing Toolkit

The Wiley Author Marketing Toolkit provides authors with support on how to use social media, publicity, conferences, multimedia, email and the web to promote their article.

9. EDITORIAL OFFICE CONTACT DETAILS

For further information or advice please contact: Lindsey Mathews – Editorial Assistant Australian Occupational Therapy Journal Wiley 155 Cremorne Street, Richmond VIC 3121, Australia

Phone: +61 (0)3 9274 3211 Email: aot.eo@wiley.com

Appendix E

Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research (SRQR)*

http://www.equator-network.org/reporting-guidelines/srqr/

Page/line no(s).

Title and abstract

Title - Concise description of the nature and topic of the study Identifying the study as qualitative or indicating the approach (e.g., ethnography, grounded theory) or data collection methods (e.g., interview, focus group) is
recommended	Page 33; line 2
Abstract - Summary of key elements of the study using the abstract form of the intended publication; typically includes background, purpose,	nat
methods, results, and conclusions	Page 35

Introduction

Problem formulation - Description and significance of the problem/phenomenon studied; review of relevant theory and empirical work;	
problem statement	Page 36-37
Purpose or research question - Purpose of the study and specific objectives	Page 37;
or questions	paragraph 3

Methods

Qualitative approach and research paradigm - Qualitative approach (e.g., ethnography, grounded theory, case study, phenomenology, narrative research) and guiding theory if appropriate; identifying the research paradigm (e.g., postpositivist, constructivist/ interpretivist) is also recommended; rationale**	Page 38; paragraph 2
Researcher characteristics and reflexivity - Researchers' characteristics that may influence the research, including personal attributes, qualifications/experience, relationship with participants, assumptions, and/or presuppositions; potential or actual interaction between researchers'	Page 38;
characteristics and the research questions, approach, methods, results, and/or transferability Context - Setting/site and salient contextual factors; rationale**	paragraph 2; line 4 Page 38; paragraph 3
Sampling strategy - How and why research participants, documents, or events were selected; criteria for deciding when no further sampling was necessary (e.g., sampling saturation); rationale**	Page 38; paragraph 3
Ethical issues pertaining to human subjects - Documentation of approval by an appropriate ethics review board and participant consent, or explanation for lack thereof; other confidentiality and data security issues	Page 38; paragraph 2; line 3
Data collection methods - Types of data collected; details of data collection procedures including (as appropriate) start and stop dates of data collection and analysis, iterative process, triangulation of sources/methods, and modification of procedures in response to evolving study findings;	Page 39; paragraph 2

rationale**	
Data collection instruments and technologies - Description of instruments	
(e.g., interview guides, questionnaires) and devices (e.g., audio recorders) used for data collection; if/how the instrument(s) changed over the course of the study	Page 39; paragraph 1
Units of study - Number and relevant characteristics of participants,	
documents, or events included in the study; level of participation (could be	Page 59;
reported in results)	table 2
Data processing - Methods for processing data prior to and during analysis,	
including transcription, data entry, data management and security, verification of data integrity, data coding, and anonymization/de-	Page 39;
identification of excerpts	paragraph 3
Data analysis - Process by which inferences, themes, etc., were identified	
and developed, including the researchers involved in data analysis; usually	Page 39;
references a specific paradigm or approach; rationale**	paragraph 3
Techniques to enhance trustworthiness - Techniques to enhance	
trustworthiness and credibility of data analysis (e.g., member checking, audit	Page 40;
trail, triangulation); rationale**	paragraph 2

Results/findings

Synthesis and interpretation - Main findings (e.g., interpretations,	
inferences, and themes); might include development of a theory or model, or	Results section
integration with prior research or theory	(page 41-46)
Links to empirical data - Evidence (e.g., quotes, field notes, text excerpts,	Results section
photographs) to substantiate analytic findings	(page 41-46)

Discussion

Integration with prior work, implications, transferability, and	Discussion:
contribution(s) to the field - Short summary of main findings; explanation	page 46-50
of how findings and conclusions connect to, support, elaborate on, or	
challenge conclusions of earlier scholarship; discussion of scope of	Practice
application/generalizability; identification of unique contribution(s) to	implications:
scholarship in a discipline or field	Page 51-52
Limitations - Trustworthiness and limitations of findings	Page 50

Other

Conflicts of interest - Potential sources of influence or perceived influence	
on study conduct and conclusions; how these were managed	Page 33; (vii)
Funding - Sources of funding and other support; role of funders in data	
collection, interpretation, and reporting	Page 33; (vi)

*The authors created the SRQR by searching the literature to identify guidelines, reporting standards, and critical appraisal criteria for qualitative research; reviewing the reference lists of retrieved sources; and contacting experts to gain feedback. The SRQR aims to improve the transparency of all aspects of qualitative research by providing clear standards for reporting qualitative research.

**The rationale should briefly discuss the justification for choosing that theory, approach, method, or technique rather than other options available, the assumptions and limitations implicit in those choices, and how those choices influence study conclusions and transferability. As appropriate, the rationale for several items might be discussed together.

Reference:

O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. **Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations.**Academic Medicine, Vol. 89, No. 9 / Sept 2014

DOI: 10.1097/ACM.0000000000000388